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DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

As | write this message in early 2022, it is hard to feel positive about the state of the world.
A potentially explosive war in Europe threatens nuclear and cyberattacks on civilian infrastruc-
ture on a scale previously unknown. Conflicts and chronic violence on every continent remain
unresolved as international troops and peacemakers withdraw; inequality is at an all-time high;
poverty and human vulnerability are immense. We must find ways to work together to prevent
global catastrophe. This is as true in the sector in which the Global Initiative Against Transnational
Organized Crime (GI-TOC) operates as in several others - with multiple threats now interwoven.

The world has continued to reshape itself in response to the pandemic, and few of those
adaptations have proven positive for governance and the rule of law, international cooperation,
human rights or environmental sustainability. The trust in institutions and leadership needed
to navigate the pandemic were either absent or eroded by corruption, lack of transparency,
misinformation and fraud. As our Global Assassinations Monitor project has shown, civil society
actors courageous enough to speak up, demand accountability and blow the whistle on wrong-
doing continue to be targeted and threatened. Their harassers remain unpunished.

Organized crime groups and networks have been invigorated by these trends and are more
instrumental globally than ever before, not only in fragile states and authoritarian regimes, but
also established democracies. Dirty money has become more intricately intertwined with the
global financial system, while the regulatory frameworks are too riddled with flaws to freeze
the perpetrators. While some corporates are lobbying hard to shield their profits, the oversight
and governance measures intended to regulate their behaviour and emerging technologies lag
behind the opportunism of illicit actors.

The picture is bleak, the challenges immense, and the political will and capital needed to mount
a meaningful response to the onslaught are sorely lacking.

When the GI-TOC was founded in 2013, its founding members charged us with the mandate to
‘catalyze the building blocks of a global strategy against transnational organized crime’. At the
time, this seemed like an almost unrealistic goal. We questioned how our fledgling organization
would ever achieve this daunting undertaking. Organized crime encompasses so many forms
of crime, enabled by a diverse range of criminal actors; it is a complex, far-reaching problem
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that does profound harms. In 2021 we published our inaugural Global Organized Crime Index, a

unique tool for assessing criminal markets and actors, and the resilience of states to respond to
them. While the Index clearly calibrates the immense scale of the challenge posed by the global
criminal complex, it also provides indicators of how to move forward and priorities for action.

As we survey the organized crime landscape today, it is clearer than ever before that a coher-
ent strategic approach is an absolute imperative. We have therefore begun a process of
consultation and engagement around what a global strategy might look like, and to bring together
the diverse stakeholders who need to be part of making it a reality. Holistic, inclusive initiatives
have always been a cornerstone of the way the GI-TOC has worked, and now more than ever
we are drawing on our Network of Experts and our relationships with other key partners to
build coalitions to counter the growing illicit economy. Respect and recognition for the GI-TOC's
quality of work and integrity allow us to play a neutral convening role and offer our good offices
in testing and sometimes contentious global debates.

In particular, the GI-TOC'’s expanding field presence and work as a coordinator for civil society
- both within the multilateral system and through our Resilience networks in key communities
around the world - bring the perspectives of those most affected by organized crime to the
forefront of policymaking. In 2021, the Resilience Fund arranged for our Fund grantees and
change agents to speak at the UN Crime Congress and in the governing bodies of our major
international conventions. It is crucial that such fora are open to the voices of civil society,
as threats to freedom of expression increasingly attempt to silence them. Our six regional
observatories continue to provide research on the global organized crime challenge, creating
the evidence base upon which policy can be predicated and understood.

I think | speak for all who work with and for the GI-TOC when | say that we are immensely proud
of the work we do, and deeply motivated by realizing a compelling vision of a new world order -
one in which illicit markets do much less harm; illegal money does not skew politics; and citizens’
life chances and opportunities are meaningfully improved. | thank all of our partners, members,
staff, and our Board and financial partners, for all they do to support us.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

TOWARDS A GLOBAL RESPONSE
TO ORGANIZED CRIME

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

One of the overarching targets of the GI-TOC's 2021 to 2023 strategy is to become a global
network in action, so that the organization is in a strong position to comprehensively moni-
tor and firmly combat the phenomenon of organized crime - worldwide. In 2021, bold steps
made towards achieving this target were evident in the organization and its outputs. We
have staff members in 27 countries, and civil society observatories of illicit economies now
covering six regions in all continents, with our latest, West Africa observatory getting under-
way in June 2021 and delivering its first outputs in the second half of the year.

As this annual report shows, the organization is in a confident position to be both the glob-
ally authoritative voice on organized crime analysis and a global advocacy group to address
the complex challenges posed by illicit transnational economies. And these challenges have
in many cases been exacerbated over the last year and a half by the pandemic.

The organization is not only expanding geographically, but also growing in numbers to meet
the challenge, and to fulfil the strategy objectives. In 2020 and 2021, there was a steady
increase in core staff, half of whom are now from developing countries, as well as consul-
tants and associates. Meanwhile, the Global Initiative Network of Experts (henceforth, ‘the
Network’), has increased to 555 members, and their recruitment is being positively targeted
for gender, race and regional diversity. Financially, the organization is in a healthy position
to support these growth initiatives, with annual revenue for the 2021 fiscal year forecast
to be in excess of 13.5 million Swiss francs, and with a similar income projection for 2022.

In addition to human resources, there has also been growth in the volume of, and thematic-
geographic representation in, the publications and multimedia outputs this year. The current
strategy phase provides for greater global representativeness in our research, and one key
area with this in mind has been the establishment of a programme for professional transla-
tions of our published material in order to reach a broader target international readership. In
2021, the GI-TOC produced over 80 publications, including research reports, policy briefs,
risk bulletins and online articles. Of these, over 50 have been translated (we currently make
our material available in six languages). The research and analysis has covered illicit econo-
mies, black and grey markets, flows, trends and actors in nine geo-political regions, as well
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as flagship pan-international studies, such as the first ever global index of organized crime.

The GI-TOC's podcast series has also continued to grow, with 79 episodes released in 2021,
and some episodes are also now produced in Spanish. Meanwhile, our informational videos
and webinars continue to ramp up international engagement with our content.

As well as providing the evidence base of organized crime through rigorous primary research,
the GI-TOC, through its Resilience Fund, has expanded its programme during 2021 to
support civil society initiatives whose work is to build mechanisms and processes that
create resilience in communities all over the world living with organized crime. The Fund now
supports 113 beneficiaries, out of which 26 are individuals, who engage in a range of
initiatives in their communities dealing with impacts of organized crime by fostering
resilience. The grass-roots-level work of the Resilience Fund has attracted new sources of
funding during 2021.

In 2021, the GI-TOC has sought to further leverage its well-established channels and
platforms of engagement with the multilateral community. This crucial advocacy work
has included partnering with UN programmes, co-hosting events during UN conferences,
participating in intergovernmental meetings and presenting our research material in
various settings. One key aspect of this sphere of our work has been to continue to use our
influential voice to push for greater civil society access to UN processes.

This and other threads of our work - be it producing the research evidence base or
nurturing community resilience - all form part of one of the main founding principles of
the GI-TOC: to put in place the foundations to support a global, holistic strategy to address
transnational organized crime. This annual report looks at the structural, organizational
elements that give the GI-TOC its ‘market advantage’ in this strategic drive. It then high-
lights the main outputs of its six regional civil society observatories over the past year, as
well as other core initiatives and engagements, before reflecting on the importance of a
global strategy against transnational organized crime - the most pernicious threat to human
security and development in the world today.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime is an independent, international
organization, headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland, with three regional offices in Austria, South
Africa and Malta, and six regional organized crime observatories.

Observatory of lllicit Economies &
in North Africa and the Sahel

Observatory of lllicit Economies
in West Africa

Observatory of lllicit Economies
in Central America
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THE TEAM

Observatory of lllicit Economies
in East and Southern Africa

The GI-TOC team has grown steadily over the
years. In 2020, there was a steep increase

in staff by approximately 40%. The GI-TOC

is committed to encouraging equality and
diversity among its workforce. As of today,
the team consists of 84 staff members of 32
nationalities working in 27 countries around
the world.

Observatory of
lllicit Economies in
South-Eastern Europe

Observatory of lllicit Economies
in the Asia-Pacific

84

staff members

KV,

tionaliti
nationalities 51%
27 Develqped
countries
countries
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PUBLICATIONS AND MULTIMEDIA OUTREACH

We continue to produce robust content with the Website hits
aim of reaching more audiences and increasing the
impact of our research. In 2020, we built up our

communications and editorial teams to be able to

diversify how we deliver content, including through

arange of products such as podcasts, video material

and infographics, and by producing more material in .

multiple languages. 2019 2020 2021
Pt [ ROADTO |
Publications  livors |
27 Research reports “.'MM_%'“:
21 Policy briefs and black market briefs (e Podcast episodes
AR (57 063 downloads)
17 Risk bulletins '-:\'\‘i,:‘;mnom‘i‘
10 Donor briefing documents <P 40+
Trend reports @i@, Videos
Explorin
2 Handbooks/guidance documents Or;a_nizefs
Cr_lme
30 Blogs/analysis articles/commentaries 30
Webinars
NETWORK OF EXPERTS The GI-TOC Network of Experts remains an
— e integral part of the organization. As of August
2021, we have 555 Network members. During
the last review process, 23 new members were
(5@? GLOBAL added to the Network, of which 12 are women
INITIATIVE with almost half of them coming from under-
NETWORK OF EXPERTS

represented countries.

GI-TOC MULTILATERAL ENGAGEMENT

In 2021, the GI-TOC has scaled up its official
engagement in UN meetings and processes, its
coordination with other NGOs, its partnership
with UN agencies and government missions,
and policy analysis around UN processes.

GI-TOC statement at the 14th United Nations

.Cuﬂgre-ssanCrilr_EPrewﬂtionaﬂdc_riininalmsli:e 3:04
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THE ORGANIZATION

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime (hereafter ‘the GI-TOC)
is an independent, international civil society organization headquartered in Geneva,
Switzerland, with three regional offices in Austria, South Africa and Malta, and six regional
organized crime observatories. The organization consists of a globally dispersed sec-
retariat and a high-level advisory board. Its Network members include prominent law
enforcement, governance and develop-ment practitioners who are dedicated to seek-
ing new and innovative strategies and responses to organized crime. The GI-TOC was
established in 2013 and has developed from a lean start-up to a global organization within
less than a decade.

GI-TOC mission statement

According to the organization’s constitution, the primary purposes of the GI-TOC are to:
= Create the building blocks for a global strategy on transnational organized crime.

= Promote catalytic, cross-border processes that draw in actors and that facilitate the
reshaping of thinking, coordination and responses to transnational organized crime.

= Energize the global debate around transnational organized crime to promote the
sustainable translation and embedding of new approaches into current multilateral,

regional and national frameworks.

m  Undertake research and develop new policy and programmatic options to contribute to
informed strategy development at national, regional and international levels.
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GI-TOC 2021-2023 strategy

The GI-TOC's strategy through to 2023 is to ‘go global’. The aim is to ensure that, by 2023,

the GI-TOC

is a global network in action;

achieves global coverage through its offices and observatories;

has a global perspective in its publications and other outputs;

reaches a global audience;

has a Network of Experts with truly global and inclusive membership; and

meaningfully contributes to global efforts to prevent and combat organized crime.

THE ORGANIZATION



THE GI-TOC ADVANTAGE

The team

The GI-TOC team has grown steadily over the years. In 2020, there was a steep increase in
staff by approximately 40%. The GI-TOC is committed to encouraging equality and diversity
among its workforce. As of December 2021, the team consists of 84 staff members of
32 nationalities working in 27 countries around the world. The number of core staff from
developing countries is steadily increasing: 49% of GI-TOC core staff are from developing
countries. As well as core staff, we also engage approximately 160 independent experts in
over 40 different countries, of whom more than 80% are from developing countries.

GI-TOC team geographic spread

USA 1%  Albania 1%
Cote d'lvoire 1% Australia 1%

0,
UK 11% Austria 15%

Uganda 1%

Tunisia 2% Bosnia and

Herzegovina 1%

Bulgaria 1%
Canada 2%
‘ Colombia 2%
Croatia 1%

Switzerland 7%

France 4%

Guatemala 1%
India 2%
Africa 17%
Italy 5%

Kenya 2%

Serbia and Montenegro 1% L!thuania 1%
Portugal 1% . Malta 10%
& > Mexico 1%

North Macedonia 1% Netherlands 1%
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GI-TOC team

90

. —

60

50 . Leadership

40 - . Directors

30 . Senior experts, senior
analysts and specialists
20
. Analysts and officers
o .
Associates
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Financial overview

2021 was unquestionably a positive year for the GI-TOC as a whole. Consolidated income was
CHF 13.37 million, despite a tightening of the global economy, and changing donor priorities.
GI-TOC effectively navigated the constraints posed by COVID in its second year, with the
pandemic not significantly affecting our fund raising or project delivery, although many adap-
tions were made in the case of the latter. As in 2020, the organisation received clean audits
for the three financial- legal entities (Switzerland, Austria and South Africa).

Income projection 2017-2023, in CHF

16 000 000
14 000 000

12 000 000

10 000 000
8 000 000
6 000 000 In concept
. In negotiation
4 000 000
. In contracting
2 000 000
. Signed

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

o

The graph below shows the proportions of the funding streams of our financial partners,
highlighting that while there are three major financial partners (accounting for 70% of income
between them), there is a growing diversity of other funding streams.

Income overview for fiscal year 2021, by financial partner

Germany
12.65%
European USA 8.84%
Union
13.03%

ISS - European Union 4.79%

Canada 2.64%

Other 6.45%
UN 0.54%
o)
New Zealand 0.54% Belgium 0.52%
United
Kinngid?)m The Netherlands
22.74% Sm?”etr 0.28%
' projects . o
0.98% Austrian 0.27%
Australia
Norway 0.03%
28.86%
Torchlight
1.13%

Switzerland 1.78%
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Publications and multimedia outreach

Publications

Part of the GI-TOC’s new three-year strategy is to be globally representative and to increase
the evidence base and understanding of organized crime around the world. Our aim is to
undertake research and develop new policy and programmatic options to contribute to
informed strategy development at the local, national, regional and international levels. As we
enter this strategy period, the GI-TOC’s body of work includes local analysis, policy briefs,
risk bulletins and thematic reports, as well as a growing range of global research products
such as the report ‘The global illicit economy: Trajectories of organized crime’, the ‘World
Atlas of lllicit Flows” and the ‘Global Organized Crime Index’ (see below for more details).

We continue to produce robust content with the aim of reaching more audiences and
increasing the impact of our research. In 2020, we built up our communications and
editorial teams to be able to diversify how we deliver content, including through a range of
products such as podcasts, video material and infographics, and by producing more mate-

rial in multiple languages.

Top 10 publications, 1 January to 15 November (page views):

The Global Organized Crime
Index 2021

The global illicit economy:
Trajectories of organized crime

The cocaine pipeline to Europe

Spot prices: Analyzing flows
of people, drugs and money
in the Western Balkans

An Iranian fingerprint?
Tracing type 56-1 assault rifles
in Somalia

Crime and contagion: The impact
of a pandemic on organized crime

China’s new silk road: Navigating
the organized crime risk

Fishy business: lllegal fishing in
Somalia and the capture of state
institutions

A synthetic age: The evolution of
methamphetamine markets in
eastern and southern Africa

Illicit gold markets in East
and southern Africa

0 5000 10 000 15000

20 000 25000
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Number of publications translated into multiple languages

Bosnian-Montenegrin-Serbian _
Portuguese _
Arabic -
]

German

o
w
o
el
=
N
[N
(8]

Regions covered by GI-TOC publications

18

Caribbean

The global illicit economy
and the Global South

Western Balkans
South East Asia

West Africa

Levant

Central Africa
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Website

Our online audience continues to grow every year, as can be seen in the graph below.
Especially due to our new multimedia channels (podcast and video) and the availability of
publications in different languages, we have attracted new audiences and increased the
number of online users by 37.79% from 2020 to 2021. In 2021, the GI-TOC website had
515 100 page views with a particular spike in May.

Social media

In May 2021, we gained a record number of new Twitter followers (+500) and visits to the
GI-TOC's profile (35 600). Of our website visitors, 11 600 come from social networks, and
Twitter accounted for more than half (52.14%) of these referred users. On Twitter, our best
performing video was the report ‘A synthetic age’, with 1 120 views as of August 2021. We
have also experimented with a Twitter quiz, using audio from our podcasts.

On our social channels, the biggest improvers by reach were Twitter and Facebook, with
a monthly increase in impressions of 33.8% and 65.3%, respectively, from February to
March 2021. The average post engagement also increased every month in the quarter for
Facebook posts.

At the beginning of the year, we also relaunched the GI-TOC's Instagram page, with a new

strategy, series and visual redesign.

12.6k 13.1k 1.2k 3.2k
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https://twitter.com/GI_TOC/status/1372566462234120198
https://twitter.com/GI_TOC/status/1348576510748274690
https://www.facebook.com/gitoc/
https://www.instagram.com/gi_toc/

Annual web hits rate: globalinitiative (2013-2021)

525000

500 000

475 000

450 000

425 000

400 000

375000

350 000

325000

300 000

275000

250000

225000

200 000

175000

150 000

125000

100 000
80 388

75000
59101

50 000
34192
25000
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0 | I 1 |

2013 2014 2015 2016

108 644 I
I | I

2020 vs 2021 comparison
users: +40.20% 373 208 vs 266 194
sessions: +34.69% 515 100 vs 382 420

515100

382420

225000

150 000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

* Data: Google Analytics. The amount refers to the total number of sessions within the date range. A session is the time a user
is actively engaged with the website. All usage data (screen views, events, etc.) is associated with a session.
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Podcast series

The GI-TOC'’s podcast series, which was launched in 2020, continues to grow. Since its estab-

lishment, the GI-TOC has produced over 130 episodes and our audience is steadily grow-

ing. In 2021, we released 79 new episodes. The current download total for the year is 57

063 downloads. ‘Deep Dive: Exploring Organized Crime’ continues to be the GI-TOC's top-

performing series, with episodes being downloaded more than 2 000 times each. At

s v

@
rﬁﬁDN
L oring

E“pauh‘-ed

Pandillas, victimas y extorsién en (@ coptivate
El Salvador

the start of the year, the GI-TOC produced
its first narrative-driven report, ‘The fall of
EncroChat’, as part of the Deep Dive pod-
cast series, which quickly became one of the
GI-TOC’s most popular episodes.

The GI-TOC is also producing podcasts in
different languages. Our podcast in Spanish,
‘Coaliciones por la Resiliencia’, has released
six more episodes this year and then ‘Paisajes’
released three episodes. Latin America is
one of the fastest-growing podcast mar-
kets and our Spanish-speaking audience
keeps growing.

In 2021, we created two special episodes based around illicit markets in Guinea-Bissau,

which were translated into Portuguese and broadcast on one of the country’s community

radio stations, Raddio Comunitaria de Bolama.

In addition, we launched Too Many Enemies, a podcast series produced in collaboration

with News24 in South Africa, which takes the audience on an investigative journey into

the dangerous dealings of Wandile Bozwana, killed in October 2015 while stopped at a

red traffic light in Pretoria.

news24

Breaking Mews. First
NEW: BUSINESS v SPORT w LFESTYLE » OPMIOM v MULTMEDIA v MAGAZINES v NEWSRAPERS v  PARTNERS v

© ot [ml MOST REAI FO IBERS

PODCAST | Too Many Enemies: Exploring the
assassination of Wandile Bozwana

news24
EXCLUSIVE | 554 report finds "high
likelihood' ANC MP Xisomel Havard is
° ° siying for China

Covid-19: Top scientist warms of SA0
camplacency a3 excess deaths near
B0 BH0

Sisters arrested in Limpopa
menicipality corruption case
Blosenfonten acting magistrate net
considerad fue vacancy because of his
sk, BCA hidia

TH SNBIREENS CAR USTER T T

Tuma taces amother contempt charge i
e does ned allow NPA docters to
wxaming him - experts

(& LOBA
W INITIATIVE

Newsletters

Tiee O Story - Daly

TOO MANY

ENEMIES

Volume

I #TooManyEnemies I

Dlodsad Iitintive Against Tramarationa Oegenived

Tos Mary Enemies

+ Wandile Borwana met a violent end when he was gunned down in his car in Pretoria in
Oectaber 2015,

an up for o newslotter

The Impact: Coronavirus and Organized Crime,
shortlisted for Best Coronavirus Podcast
at the 2021 Publisher Podcast Awards, will
return for a second series building on the
very successful first series.

Our Multimedia Communications Manager
also received a nomination for ‘Pocast Hero
of the Year’ at the same awards.

Part of our new multimedia strategy is video
content, presenting different styles, lengths
and approaches. Many of our report launches
are now accompanied by short informational
videos in order to increase attention and
engagement with our content. The videos are
published on the GI-TOC'’s YouTube channel.
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In 2021 our videos had 260 448 views, with a watch time of 229 000 hours. We had
+2 100 new subscribers in 2021.

The most viewed videos over the year were:

=  ‘Contested Ground: Inside Cape Town'’s gang wars’, which has had 241 437 views since it
was published.

= ‘Mobile Money - Inside Kenya's Matatu Gangs' (full documentary) has had 48 992 views
since it was published.

®  ‘The Cocaine Pipeline to Europe’ has had 7 415 views since it was published.
= ‘Armed Response: South Africa's Gun Violence’ has had 3 566 views since it was published.

m  ‘Didlogos para la Resiliencia - Nebaj Quiché, Guatemala 2019’ has had 2 612 views since it
was published.

Webinars

In 2020, we increased the number of webinars we held, as in-person meetings became lim-
ited due to the pandemic. Most of our webinars and video content are produced in multiple
languages, using simultaneous translation or second audio tracks. Participation in GI-TOC
webinars has been impressive. In the first six months of 2021, we hosted 10 webinars with a
total of 4 000+ participants. Our webinar on the launch of the report ‘The cocaine pipeline to
Europe’ had 750 participants. We also ran our first event on YouTube, premiering the launch of
Criminal Contagion, a book written by the GI-TOC's leadership, Tuesday Reitano and Mark Shaw.

Top 5 webinars:

The cocaine pipe"ne 0 Europe _

The Global Organized Crime
Index 2021

Changing tides: The evolving
illicit drug trade in the western
Indian Ocean

Infrastructure of integrity:
Corruption and anti corruption
in the Western Balkans

Stronger Together: Bolstering
resilience among civil society in
the Western Balkans

THE GI-TOC ADVANTAGE
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Media coverage

The GI-TOC's research is covered extensively in the media and reported on in highly
regarded journals and newspapers such as The Economist, The New York Times,
Der Spiegel, The Irish Times, Daily Maverick, the Los Angeles Times, The Independent
and The Guardian. GI-TOC staff are often quoted in the media and invited to give
their expert opinion on television and radio programmes. Our reports in languages
other than English are also increasing media coverage in other regional newspa-
pers and magazines, for example in the Western Balkans and in Latin America.

owid CRIFT WOEY  PODCUT I MORE

W NEW REPORT Europe has become the
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Network of Experts

The Network is the GI-TOC's key resource body, providing a forum for exchanging knowl-
edge, expertise and advice. The Network is a multi-disciplinary group, comprising national
and international experts such as policymakers, law enforcement specialists, academics,
members of non-governmental organizations, investigative journalists and businesspeople
who are involved in researching or countering transnational organized crime.
Female

36% At the end of 2021, the Network consists of 555 members. Targeted recruitment is being
used to increase member-ship from under-represented regions, as well as female experts.
In addition, the GI-TOC is developing regional initiatives to facilitate networking, encourage
dialogue and future collaborations, and increase members’ involvement with the GI-TOC's work.

555 members

Latest review: September 2021 (+23)
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Growth of members by region of origin

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017 237

2018 310

2019 478
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o

Professional group

Asia: 37 (7%)

Europe: 237 (44%)

Latin America
and the Carribean: 82 (15%)

Middle East
and North Africa: 11 (2%)

North America: 121 (22%)

Oceania: 22 (4%)

Sub-Saharan Africa: 45 (8%)

Media: 36 (7%)

UN/Multilateral organization: 47 (9%)

Private sector: 54 (10%)

Government and law enforcement: 160 (29%)

Civil society organization: 135 (25%)

Subject area expertise

cademia: 211 (38%)

A ia:
Independent experts: 131 (24%)

Maritime piracy 31 (6%)
Cybercrime 72 (13%)

Environmental crime 84 (15%)

Economic crime 104 (19%)

Money laundering 115 (21%)

Violence and fragility 144 (26%)

o

llicit trade 157 (28%)

Arms trafficking 30 (5%)

Governance and development 212 (38%)

Human trafficking
and smuggling of migrants 183 (33%)

Drug trafficking 178 (32%)

Gangs, mafia and violence 166 (30%)

THE GI-TOC ADVANTAGE
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Development of new programmes

Young Professionals Network

The GI-TOC launched the Young Professionals Network (YPN) in late 2021, with the aim
of helping new generations of young professionals and researchers garner experience and
make connections through their professional journey, with the objective of increasing their
proactive and meaningful participation in the fight against transnational organized crime.

Mentoring programme

The mentoring programme is being designed as a way to tap into the existing knowledge,
skills and experience of the accumulative expertise of the Network and transfer these
skills to other members who wish to develop, complement or sharpen their expertise in a
particular domain. A pilot programme will be launched in 2022 for YPN members and even-
tually GI-TOC staff.

Network meetings

Following the success of the virtual group discussions, exclusive to the Network, which
started in May 2019, these were increased from quarterly to monthly discussions, moder-
ated by a GI-TOC staff member and with presentations by two Network members. Average
attendance has been 32 participants.

A new series of virtual meetings has been launched in 2021 to encourage collaborations
and ensure Network members are familiar with the GI-TOC’s main projects. During these
meetings, teams managing the GI-TOC's flagship initiatives present their projects to Network
members. This is an opportunity for GI-TOC staff members to connect with Network mem-
bers who might be able to support their activities.

Network quarterly bulletins

Since the first bulletin in April 2019, the GI-TOC has received positive feedback and encour-
agement from the Network. The bulletins are circulated in three languages (English, Spanish
and French), highlighting Network members’ recent projects, initiatives and publications,
as well as welcoming newly accepted members. Each bulletin receives contributions from
around 25 members.

#GINetwork

As part of our Network communication strategy, we have created a specific hashtag for
Network activities and updates. This hashtag is used by both GI-TOC staff and Network
members on Twitter, Facebook and LinkedIn. A Network LinkedIn group was set up in late
2021 to facilitate communication and exchange between Network members.
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Network peer review of GI-TOC publications

The GI-TOC has also drawn on the Network’s diverse and rich expertise to uphold the
quality of our publications. In 2021, the Network reviewed several GI-TOC publications.

Network engagement in the GI-TOC’s Organized Crime Index

The expertise of Network members has been crucial in developing the GI-TOC’s Organized
Crime Index. In 2021, 48 Network members supported the development of the project
(34 took part in the project in 2020). Members contributed to the Index in a number of
ways, such as reviewing country profiles and scores or recommending and connecting the
project’s core team to other local and thematic experts.

Network contributions to GI-TOC podcasts and blogs

The Network has proven to be a sound support and source for contributions to GI-TOC
podcasts and blog posts. In 2021, 60 members contributed to a number of thematic arti-
cles, and 10 were invited to speak as part of the podcast series.

Governance

The GI-TOC Board provides high-level governance and strategic direction, championing
its work and ensuring that the actions of the GI-TOC are consistent with its mandate. The
members of the Board provide oversight for the financial, legal, human resources and eth-
ical integrity of the GI-TOC.

The GI-TOC's primary oversight Board is global, overseeing the organization’s actions and
operations worldwide, and providing governance and strategic advice through the organi-
zation’s headquarters in Geneva and its regional office in Vienna.

An African Board, which oversees the organization’s work in eastern and southern Africa,
West Africa, and North Africa and the Sahel, brings a strategic focus to the particular needs
of our work on the continent. The Board provides strategic advice through the organiza-
tion’s regional office in Cape Town. The African Board maintains close ties and communica-
tion with the global Board and works under its authority.

We have sought to ensure that the boards are geographically and gender representative.
The global Board has members from every region of the world, and half of the members

are women.

THE GI-TOC ADVANTAGE
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NODES IN A NETWORK:

REGIONAL OBSERVATORIES
OF ILLICIT ECONOMIES

The GI-TOC's regional observatories form a global network of civil society actors and
researchers working together to address organized crime. The observatories were created
to analyze and expose more fully the extent and damage caused by organized crime, illicit
trade and corruption, and to bolster state and non-state actors committed to achieving an
effective response. Rather than regional offices, these observatories should be considered
nodes in a network: clusters where like-minded crime analysts and activists come together
to collect, share and analyze data, and take part in dialogues about the ‘hidden economy’
and the impact of organized crime. These regional observatories provide a unique platform
for engagement with states, and for narratives and joint action between researchers, civil
society, law enforcement and other state actors.

South-Eastern Europe

The GI-TOC's Observatory of lllicit Economies in South-
Eastern Europe is a platform that connects and empowers
civil society actors in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,

-2 GLOBAL
: } 2 INITIATIVE
Kosovo, Montenegro, North Macedonia and Serbia, and ot

aims to enable civil society to identify, analyze and map
criminal trends and their impact on illicit flows, gover-
nance, development, inter-ethnic relations, security and
the rule of law. Established in 2018 with a strong focus
on the Western Balkans Six, in 2021 the observatory
started to expand its work across south-eastern Europe
more widely, including Bulgaria, Croatia, Greece, Romania
and Slovenia.

*drugs and'money in the
Western Balkans

Every year, the observatory publishes a flagship report
on illicit economies in the region. In 2021, this report

was ‘Spot prices: Analyzing flows of people, drugs and
money in the Western Balkans. The report estimates
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the value of the market for migrant smuggling in the
region, provides an overview of wholesale and con-
sumer drug prices and investigates money laundering
hotspots. The report has been widely quoted in national
and international media. The observatory also produced
an assessment on illicit financial flows (IFFs) in Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia (accompanied by a
short video), which complements a similar report on IFFs
in the other three countries of the region published in
2020. The observatory compiled a report on the drivers
and enablers of organized crime in seven municipalities
across Albania, inclduing a detailed assessment of gen-
der-based vulnerabilities. The observatory also worked
with the Organization for Security and Cooperation in
Europe (OSCE) on analyzing IFFs in south-eastern Europe,
with a particular focus on the confiscation, seizure and
social reuse of the assets of organized crime.

In 2021, the observatory released the first ever com-
prehensive overview of commercial sexual exploitation
of children in the Western Balkans. The report includes
an assessment of the regional risks to commercial sexual
exploitation of children as well as extensive recommen-
dations to reduce vulnerability to this crime.

Since 2019, the observatory and its network of anti-
corruption experts in the region have been monitoring
the implementation of anti-corruption pledges made by
the governments of Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Kosovo, Montenegro, North Macedonia,and Serbia at the
2018 London Summit of the Berlin process. In 2021, the
observatory produced a series of publications that analyze

NODES IN A NETWORK: REGIONAL OBSERVATORIES OF ILLICIT ECONOMIES
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the problem and impact of corruption in the region as
well as anti-corruption measures, titled ‘Infrastructure
of Integrity’. One of the reports coined the expression
‘organized corruption’, which was picked up extensively
by the media and practitioners. The series also includes
a comprehensive overview of how each country has fol-
lowed up on its anti-corruption pledges made at the 2018
London Summit, and produced an online monitoring tool
to track implementation.

(7 GLOBAL

(75 GLOBAL
W) INITIATIVE

W iNmaTive

In 2021, the observatory also completed a mapping of
civil society organizations (CSOs) in the Western Balkans
that are focused on strengthening resilience to orga-
nized crime and corruption. In February 2021, we issued
‘Stronger Together: Bolstering resilience among civil soci-
ety in the Western Balkans’, a report that looks at the
main issues addressed by CSOs in the region working
on organized crime and corruption, and the challenges
they face. The report makes recommendations on how
to strengthen local resilience. The report was produced
on the basis of consultations with civil society actors and
was launched with an online event in March 2021 with
the participation of Dunja Mijatovi¢, Commissioner for
Human Rights at the Council of Europe. Together with
the GI-TOC'’s Resilience Fund, the observatory supports
14 CSOs in the Western Balkans, providing them with
practical support, training and networking to increase
their capacity to support vulnerable youth, minorities and
marginalized groups; to develop social enterprises and
facilitate the social reuse of confiscated assets; and to
enhance local media and research organizations focused
on organized crime and corruption. The observatory orga-
nized six in-person national resilience dialogues between
September and December 2021, one in each capital of
the region, to discuss current trends and concerns, raise
awareness and engagement among civil society on the
topics of organized crime and corruption, and strengthen
the relationship between civil society and government.

Publications

Monthly risk bulletins

In 2021, the observatory produced 12 editions of its
monthly risk bulletin. These online publications profile
hotspots of organized crime in the region, highlight recent
trends and developments related to organized crime and
corruption, and profile civil society organizations that are
strengthening local resilience to organized crime. They also
regularly feature new regional publications on organized
crime and corruption in south-eastern Europe.

Research and analysis in the second half of 2021 focused
on the importance of regional ports in facilitating orga-
nized crime, the drug situation in the Western Balkans,
hooliganism, asset confiscation and recovery, and on the
role of youth and women in strengthening resilience to
organized crime and corruption across the region. Steps
were also taken to enhance the visual impact of the obser-
vatory’s data and analysis on the GI-TOC website. Our
publications are regularly featured in local, regional and
international media, with 300+ mentions as of July 2021.

Regional network

The backbone of the observatory is its regional network.
This network, which now numbers more than 40 mem-
bers, provides invaluable feedback on draft reports as well
as advice on strategic objectives. The observatory also
draws on a network of more than 60 researchers who
help gather information for research and publications.

One of the observatory’s objectives for 2021 has been to
strengthen partnerships with inter-governmental organi-
zations. This was achieved through enhanced cooperation
with the OSCE; outreach to the South East Europe Police
Chiefs Association; a strengthened partnership with the
Southeast European Law Enforcement Center; and an
analysis of drug markets in the region for the European
Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction.

In 2021, the observatory took further steps to strengthen
its links with academia in south-eastern Europe. This
was achieved by co-organizing a regional meeting with
Balkan Criminology on research methodologies in Zagreb,
Croatia. The meeting was attended by representatives
from civil society, the media and academia. GI-TOC staff
also met with the Croatian Minister of Justice and Public
Administration as well as the Director of the Croatian
State Prosecutor’s Office for the Suppression of Organized
Crime and Corruption to discuss possible cooperation.
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East and Southern Africa

The Observatory of lllicit Economies in East and Southern
Africa is a network of civil society activists, researchers
and journalists working across the region, with hubs in
Nairobi and Cape Town. The observatory was launched
in 2019, and maps and analyzes criminal trends and illicit
flows in the region through regular reporting in the obser-
vatory’s risk bulletin, political economy analyses and sur-
veys of illicit economies covering the region.

In 2021, the observatory produced six market/commodity
and political economy reports and as many risk bulletins.
Market research focused on the evolution of metham-
phetamine markets in the region, on illicit gold markets
in East and southern Africa, and on charcoal grey mar-
kets in Kenya, Uganda and South Sudan. Political econ-
omy reports have covered extortion and gangs in Cape
Town, the evolving illicit drug trade in the western Indian
Ocean, and illegal fishing and the capture of state insti-
tutions in Somalia.

Market research

Drugs

Areport on methamphetamine markets in the region, titled
‘A synthetic age’, was published in March 2021. The report
provides an analytical summary of meth markets that is
grounded in data collected in 10 countries across the region
with details of specific retail price points, commentary on
domestic meth distribution systems and structures, and
discussion of common structural characteristics across the
region that enable and sustain these markets. To date, the

report has been accessed nearly 1 000 times.
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The Evolution of
i Metha[nphetamme Markets in
Eastern and Southern Africa

The data that was collected from the price surveys on
drug markets in East and Southern Africa was published
on the website. This is an interactive platform for users
to engage with the various types of data, and to compare
them over time and space.

Gold

The stress on gold markets during the COVID-19 pan-
demic highlighted the strength and resilience of illicit gold
markets. Although legal gold mining operations and buyers
were shut down in many countries by national lockdowns
that placed severe restrictions on movement and trade,
illegal mining and trade were only temporarily stalled, or
suffered from minimal disruption. Many illicit gold buyers
responded to this disruption by either stockpiling gold
at bargain prices (resulting in windfall profits when they
were able to sell the gold) or developing new ways of
moving gold. Furthermore, miners dependent on artis-
anal and small-scale gold mining for survival continued
to mine in many locations, increasing their vulnerability
to criminal actors and bribe-seeking law enforcement
agents. Analysis of various factors that shape illicit gold
markets in East and southern Africa provides insight into
the stability or instability of markets and linkages between
various marketplaces.

Charcoal

Areport on charcoal titled ‘Black gold: The charcoal grey
market in Kenya, Uganda and South Sudan’ was published
in March 2021. Charcoal is one of the most important
commodities in sub-Saharan Africa, with as much as 80%
of the urban population in the East Africa region using
charcoal as their primary energy needs for cooking. It is

“h GLOBAL
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The harcoal grey market
in Kenya, Uganda and
South Sudan
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Patricia Tricorache and Daniel Stiles
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cheap, efficient and easily transportable. It also provides
income and livelihoods for millions of people. Ineffective
or inappropriate regulation has given rise to forms of mar-
ket organization with organized crime qualities.

This situation has led to the emergence of a ‘grey mar-
ket in charcoal, where laws or regulations are flouted at
some point in the value chain, but where the final sale is
not strictly illegal. This report investigates the criminal-
ity that affects each stage of the value chain in charcoal.

lllegal wildlife trade

The illegal wildlife trade in eastern and southern Africa
pricing study has so far completed three standalone
market briefs:

m  Thereport ‘African elephant ivory’ was published
in August 2021.

m  ‘Live cheetahs’ was published in September 2021.

= Athird report on the trade in abalone from South
Africa and its link to gangs and drug markets is
currently in peer review.

Arms flows in East Africa

Published in November, ‘An Iranian fingerprint? Tracing
Type 56-1 assault rifles in Somalia’ is a report that inves-
tigates arms flows in East Africa with a focus on the spill-
over of weapons from the conflict in Yemen into Somalia.

Over the course of eight months, GI-TOC researchers
documented more than 400 illicit weapons in 13 loca-
tions across Somalia. The documented materiel included
38 Type 56-1 assault rifles - Chinese-manufactured
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AK-patternrifles that had likely originated in Iranian arms
shipments to the Houthis in Yemen. The majority of the
firearms documented in this study were found in Puntland,
a region that has historically functioned as the gateway
for illicit weapons into the country. However, the GI-TOC
documented Type 56-1 rifles as far south in Somalia as
Dolow, a town bordering Ethiopia.

The proliferation of arms related to the Yemen conflict in
Somalia has potentially serious security implications for
Puntland and for the country as a whole, as well as for
neighbouring Ethiopia and Kenya. The militant groups
al-Shabaab and the Islamic State of Irag and the Levant
operating in Puntland routinely source small arms and
ammunition from Yemen. The import of arms into Puntland
has correlated with heightened clan tensions, particularly
in areas disputed between Puntland and the neighbouring
self-declared republic of Somaliland to the west.
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Political economy reports

Lifting the veil on extortion in Cape Town
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|ON EXTORTION
TOWN

This research report explores extortion developments
that occurred during the second half of 2020 in the Cape
urban area. It examines conditions that brought the extor-
tion economy to the fore and the nature of the extortion
activities. By analyzing who is involved and the victims,
the research seeks to assess how critical this situation is,
particularly in terms of its impact on development, busi-
nesses, tourism, and on the safety and security of resi-
dents and communities in the greater Cape Town area.

The report is particularly relevant as it examines the rise
of certain criminal groups in the area and the hostile

takeovers of security contracts for nightclubs and bars
in central Cape Town.
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Changing tides

The islands of the western Indian Ocean have been dras-
tically impacted by illicit drug markets. Mauritius and the
Seychelles report some of the highest rates of heroin
consumption in the world. Growing volumes of heroin
are being trafficked via Madagascar, which also oper-
ates as a significant cannabis exporter in the inter-island
drugs economy.

Since 2015, long-standing heroin flows have been joined
by a flood of synthetic cannabinoids, which have funda-
mentally disrupted drug markets in Mauritius, Mayotte and
the Comoros islands. The drugs markets on the French
overseas territory of Réunion have different dynamics
from the other island states. This research report docu-
ments how drug markets are expanding and diversifying
in the island states, fuelling corruption and driving grow-
ing domestic consumption.

Fishy business: lllegal fishing in Somalia and
the capture of state institutions

GLOBAL
IN IT IAT IVE

The waters off Somalia are some of the richest fish-
ing grounds in the world and are still largely untapped.
Following a steady decline in attacks by Somali pirates
since 2012, foreign fishing fleets have gradually returned
to Somali waters. Many of these vessels, particularly those
originating in Iran, Yemen and South East Asia, routinely
engage in IUU (illegal, unreported and unregulated) fish-
ing practices. This paper presents three case studies of
|UU fishing practices in Somalia, each illustrating a differ-
ent facet of corruption within Somali state institutions.

NODES IN A NETWORK: REGIONAL OBSERVATORIES OF ILLICIT ECONOMIES
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How to silence the guns? Southern Africa’s
illegal firearms market
Violent crimes - such as cash-in-transit heists, armed rob-

beries, kidnappings and assassinations - share one com-
mon factor: the ready availability of illegal guns.

Although the exact figure for the number of illicit firearms
in circulation in the SADC region is not readily available, it
is estimated that there are about 3.8 million unregistered
illegal firearms in circulation in South Africa, Mozambique
and Zimbabwe alone.

This report is based on extensive research and fieldwork
conducted in South Africa, Mozambique and Zimbabwe.
The report examines the sources, markets and types of fire-
arms inflaming conflict and organized crime in the region.

Tracking blood money: Financial investigations
into wildlife crime in East Africa

A financial investigation allows for assets linked to crimi-
nal activity to be identified, and financial tools and tech-
niques can then be applied to freeze, seize or recover
the proceeds of the crime . On paper, these tools exist in
many East African countries, yet their application is lack-
ing. The missed opportunities are unfortunately common
and reveal a glaring gap in the strategy to combat wildlife
crime and other crimes, with the result that there is lack
of focus on offenders across the criminal supply chain.
This report examines the progress of selected East African
nations (Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda) in applying finan-
cial investigation tools to wildlife crime cases.

CRGANIID (R
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IMURDER BY
CONTRACT

Targeted killings
in eastern and

southern Africa

Murder by contract: Targeted killings in
eastern and southern Africa

This report aims to quantify the frequency and form
of targeted assassinations in South Africa, Kenya and
Mozambique. The report brings together data on assassi-
nations from GI-TOC's years-long monitoring of targeted
violence in southern Africa. The data provides an oppor-
tunity to compare the methods, location, fatality rate and
price of targeted killings in the region. The methodology
developed for this research also forms the basis of the
GI-TOC’s global Assassination Monitor report, launched
in November 2021.

The effects of targeted killings go far beyond the pulling
of a trigger: they threaten a country’s security, politics,
judiciary and economy, and create an atmosphere of fear
and intimidation that warps the fabric of society.

Monthly risk bulletins

The observatory has published eight risk bulletins in 2021.
To date, the observatory has published more than 70 arti-
cles on criminal economies in East and southern Africa.
The articles have covered 14 countries. The risk bulletin
has become a vital means of informing stakeholders and a
broader readership about the observatory’s research and
work each month. The reach has been amplified through
strategic syndication partnerships with leading news pub-
lications in the region including The Star in Kenya; Daily
Maverick, Financial Mail and Mail & Guardian in southern
Africa; and the Mail & Guardian’s Africa newsletter, The
Continent. These media organizations republish many of
the original risk bulletin articles.

The observatory has also worked to support investiga-
tive journalism focused on organized crime by funding a
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three-part investigative series on COVID-19, vaccines,
corruption and crime by the Bhekisisa Centre for Health
Journalism, and supporting News24 - Africa’s largest news
website, with more than 7 million monthly readers - in
a groundbreaking investigation into rampant corruption
at a critical state-owned enterprise.

Podcasts, documentary films and webinars

The observatory has produced 10 podcast episodes as
part of the GI-TOC’s Africa and the Global lllicit Economy
series, covering topics ranging from heroin and meth-
amphetamine flows to the impact of the insurgency in
northern Mozambique on illicit supply chains; emerging
illicit markets related to the pandemic; arms trafficking;
kidnappings; illegal gold mining; and police assassinations.
In partnership with News24, the observatory produced
and published a six-part investigative podcast series high-
lighting the scourge of murder-for-hire in southern Africa.

To complement our in-depth research reports, the obser-
vatory produced four short documentary films on illegal
firearms fuelling taxi violence in South Africa, gangs in
Kenya and South Africa, and drug trafficking in East Africa.
The films impart a human side to the horrific impact of
organized crime on communities, telling the stories of
people whose lives are directly affected.

The observatory also partnered with News24 on an inves-
tigation dubbed the Eskom Files, a vast trove of inter-
nal financial documents, emails and audit reports leaked
to the GI-TOC that shed new light on the extraordinary
scale of corruption that crippled South Africa’s sole power
producer, with devastating consequences for the country
and the economy. To date, this partnership has resulted in
more than 30 news articles exposing the looting of Eskom.
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During the year, the observatory has participated in more
than 20 engagements, including public webinars, closed
meetings with key stakeholders, conferences and public
outreach events. Our work on drug markets has produced
data that several countries in East and southern Africa are
using to develop health and policy interventions.

The observatory is currently starting up some new
research projects with a diverse list of topics that are
currently being finalized.

Uus more

rGuns

Mark
Shaw

Give Us More Guns

Based on interviews with South African police and the
criminal underworld, this book, published in March 2021,
tells the story of the callous machinations behind how
state property firearms were sold to violent gangs in
South Africa. GI-TOC director Mark Shaw explores the
underworld channels and networks that enabled the
illegally sold guns to get into the hands of South Africa’s
crime bosses.
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The book describes the bloodbath that ensued and uncov-
ers accounts of rampant corruption within the police and
the gun-licensing system, probing government failure that
has been instrumental in arming the country’s gangsters.

The book uncovers how one of deadliest criminal acts of
the post-apartheid era - the illegal sale of guns to South
Africa’s crime bosses - came about. The decision to sell

North Africa and the Sahel

The Observatory of lllicit Economies in North Africa and
the Sahel focuses on the political economy of transna-
tional organized crime, mapping and identifying the hubs,
routes and flows of illicit markets; the key actors, stake-
holders and transnational organized crime groups involved;
and the impact that those activities have on governance,
social tension, conflict and stability in North Africa and
the Sahel. Launched in 2018, the observatory is head-
quartered in Malta, with researchers working across the
two regions.

The GI-TOC continues to lead a research project on
human smuggling and trafficking in North Africa and the
Sahel, principally through a project commissioned by the
European Union Emergency Trust Fund for Africa (EUTF)
to monitor and analyze the political economy of the phe-
nomenon in Libya, Tunisia, Morocco, Niger, Chad and Mali.
Morocco was added to the list of countries where research
is being conducted in January 2021. This programme has
two streams of work: granular monthly reports on the
situation in Libya and the Sahel, and focused research on
themes developed jointly by the GI-TOC and the EUTF
around smuggling and trafficking dynamics in North Africa
and the Sahel.

The monthly briefs have been produced since July 2018,
comprehensively delving into key human smuggling and
trafficking issues, organized crime dynamics and gov-
ernment response efforts in North Africa and the Sahel.
These briefs are circulated monthly to a restricted dis-
tribution list of EU policymakers, diplomats and humani-
tarians focused on Libya. During 2021, GI-TOC analysts
also produced assessments that have informed policy and
intervention related to criminal and armed actors involved
in smuggling and trafficking in Libya.

As a result of this research, the observatory has been able
to expand and consolidate its network of field monitors

these weapons was made by one senior police official,
Colonel Christiaan Prinsloo, and resulted in many deaths
that could have been avoided. At least a thousand people
were killed by these guns - in cases where ballistics can
be matched - but the figure is likely to be much higher.

The book received extensive media coverage, including
multiple radio and television interviews.

in the Maghreb Sahel, which now counts more than 200
monitors across Libya, Tunisia, Algeria, Morocco, Niger,
Chad, Mali and Sudan. Monitors, who are typically local
activists, journalists and researchers, are the core of the
observatory’s network-based research system.

Our focused research also resulted in the production of
a published report in May 2021 covering the changing
human smuggling and trafficking dynamics in the region.
A second report, on human smuggling and irregular
migration from Tunisia, was being finalized for release in
early 2022. Both are based on comprehensive fieldwork.

The observatory has also conducted independent research
throughout 2021 in North Africa and the Sahel. This will
result in the publication of reports in the first half of 2022
on human smuggling and irregular migration to the Canary
Islands; the detention of irregular migrants and the over-
lap with organized crime in Libya; resilience to organized
crime in the Libyan city of Zuwara; and the political econ-
omy of drug use in the central Sahara.
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Other work undertaken by the observatory in 2021
included applied research on Libyan and Tunisian borders
together with the United States Institute of Peace, the
World Food Programme and UN Women. A draft report
was submitted to the consortium in October 2021 and
was in the stages of preparation for publication at the time
of writing. Other research conducted focused on conflict
early-warning indicators in Libya for the American Bar
Association - Rule of Law Initiative. In quarter four, the
observatory undertook a project that will seek to develop
a regional situation update on drug trafficking in North
Africa and the Middle East for the European Monitoring
Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. This project is being
carried out together with the the South-Eastern Europe
observatory, which is concurrently researching drug traf-
ficking and consumption in the Balkans.

The observatory also engages in joint activities in the Sahel
with the West Africa observatory on applied research
and reporting, as well as routine and comprehensive staff
engagement on regional issues. In November, this joint
work saw the publication of an in-depth study: Soldiers of
Fortune: The Future of Chadian Fighters after the Libyan
Ceasefire. This research builds on more than two years
of monitoring by the NAS Observatory on the involve-
ment of former mercenaries in various illicit activities
in northern Chad and northern Niger, from banditry to
drug trafficking, human smuggling and artisanal gold min-
ing. The observatory is also undertaking a small project,
funded by the Friedrich Ebert Foundation (FES), which
assess Libya's oil and fuel security architecture, and the
challenges that exist, including smuggling and diversion,
as well as armed group threats. The project will result in
a policy brief on natural resource protection challenges,
state building and the importance of popular buy-in, to
be published in the second quarter of 2022.

Articles

The observatory published several articles in the first eight
months of 2021 on the GI-TOC website. For example:

®  Muhasasa, militias and meddling foreign actors: The
challenges facing Libya's new government

m  Déby’s death will fuel instability and criminal
opportunity in the Sahel

Each elicited attention and comment by regional media
and the international community.

Other policy publications by observatory staff included
articles with DCAF - Geneva Centre for Security Sector
Governance, the Institute for Security Studies, Twala, War
on the Rocks, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace,
the Atlantic Council, Middle East Law and Governance,
Herodote, Confluences Mediterranée, Orient XXI, the
Istituto per gli studi di politica internazionale, the Tahrir
Institute for Middle East Policy, Diplomatie and Foreign
Policy. Staff also authored book chapters for various pub-
lications, focused on the crime-terror nexus in Libya,
irregular migration from North Africa to Europe, and
organized crime, smuggling and resilience.

Throughout 2021, observatory staff provided in-depth
briefings and interviews for a number of governmental
actors and multilateral institutions. These included the
UN, the US Department of State, the US Senate, the
European Union, the European Parliament and the gov-
ernment of Malta.

In addition, staff offered commentary on human smug-
gling in the region to a number of media outlets, includ-
ing the BBC, Liberté Algérie, France24, Verdens Gang, The
Wall Street Journal, The Washington Post, AFP, Radio France
Internationale, Associated Press, Al-Monitor, Jeune Afrique,
Reuters, CNN and The Telegraph.

Events

The observatory organized four public conferences during
2021. The first, a workshop in February 2021 for EU mem-
ber state representations to Libya organized by the EU
Delegation, focused on the warehousing and kidnapping
for ransom of migrants in Libya. In March, the observa-
tory organized an event ‘Sudan and Libya - geopolitics
and conflict linkages’, in conjunction with the Konrad-
Adenauer-Stiftung in March. In May, a launch event was
held for ‘Conflict, coping and COVID’, the report of the
7% GLOBAL
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same name. In August, a workshop was held for EU imple-
menting partners working in Libya in which the GI-TOC
gave a presentation on the political economy of smuggling
and trafficking in coastal Libya and detention centres. On
22 November, a workshop titled Libya’s Security Sector
Reform: Ways Forward was organized together with the
Al-Sharg Forum Foundation. The event convened a wide
spectrum of policymakers, programme officers, diplomats
as well as Libya experts specialized in different fields,
to discuss the future of security sector reform in Libya,
against the backdrop of impending elections planned for
24 December, which has been postponed into 2022 and a

Central America

Since it was formed in 2020, the Central America obser-
vatory has consolidated a mixed-methodology approach
that allows for the dissemination of analysis on extortion
and related crimes in the region. Topics covered in the
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Opportunity for a new US agenda in the region

recent action plan for the departure of mercenaries from
the country. Research carried out by the GI-TOC in the
country has focused closely on the nexus between trans-
national organized crime and non-state armed groups,
including mercenaries from the broader region engaged
in the Libyan theatre.

Observatory members also presented at public or
semi-public events, including those organized by the
International Centre for Migration Policy Development, the
Global Center on Cooperative Security, Small Arms Survey
and the Ecole des Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales.

observatory’s publications include the extortion landscape
after lockdown; gender, micro trafficking and extortion
in Panama; and the challenges of measuring extortion in
Central America.

As an immediate response to the migratory and forced
displacement crisis occurring in Central America, the
observatory published a policy brief on US engagement,
‘Extortion and forced displacement in Central America:
Opportunity for a new US agenda in the region’. The analy-
sis and recommendations included in the brief enabled the
discussion of new and innovative approaches to address
the crisis with regional stakeholders. The paper was of par-
ticular interest to officials from the United States Agency
for International Development and the Organization of
American States, which allowed us to present our work
in the region and explore opportunities for collaboration.

The analysis developed by the observatory is dissemi-
nated to a general audience and it is a source of debate
and discussion within the Network of Experts Against
Extortion in Central America, formed in May 2019. Since
October 2020, the observatory has organized 16 webi-
nars, the most popular being ‘Extortion in Central America
and lessons for Panama’, in collaboration with Panama’s
Observatorio de Seguridad Ciudadana and the Panamanian
chamber of commerce, ‘Gangs, victims and extortion in El
Salvador’; and ‘Extortion in Central America: Challenges
of access to public information and citizen responses to
confront them'.

These webinars were complemented by the Coaliciones
por la Resiliencia podcast as a multimedia resource to reach
out to new audiences. On this platform, we featured a
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discussion on sextortion to raise awareness about the link
between extortion and violence against women; a case
study describing the impact of extortion on victims in El
Salvador; and the risk of covering extortion by journal-
ists as well as recommendations to reduce the potential
dangers associated with covering this crime.

Asia-Pacific

The Observatory of lllicit Economies in Asia-Pacific is a
network of civil society activists, researchers and jour-
nalists working across the region and coordinated by the
GI-TOC. Our aim is to map and analyze criminal trends
and illicit flows in the region through political economy
analyses. A formal and physical presence for the obser-
vatory is intended to be established in the region in 2022.
The observatory has worked across a number of differ-
ent projects, with existing and new financial partners to
further develop the understanding of organized crime
and possible responses to it in the region.

The observatory’s relationship with the Australian govern-
ment is developing with the formation of an expert brief-
ing series that enables the observatory to share insights
with Australian counterparts as well as a wide range of
other international partners and potential donors in the
region. In 2022, this will lead to the first ever regional
Development Dialogue event where the GI-TOC will
jointly host a participatory event designed to develop
joint initiatives, inform and influence policymakers who
are integral to the region’s development, e.g. Japan, Korea.

During the fourth quarter of 2021, the observatory pro-
duced two policy briefs that are a direct response to the
needs of the Network of Experts Against Extortion in
Central America. Topics include corruption and criminal
governance, and existing responses to victims of extortion.

These policy briefs are complemented by two papers that
analyze extortion and the private sector, and gun traffick-
ing as a catalyst for extortion. We supported the devel-
opment of six social-audit exercises using a tailor-made
guide to gather public information on extortion.

On 11 to 13 October, the observatory coordinated the
Resilience Dialogues on security and organized crime in
Latin America and the Caribbean, with 484 participants.
This served as a needs assessment for further analysis
and engagement with key stakeholders in the region.

The observatory will continue to generate analysis
of extortion in the region with an effort to examine
global responses in coordination with other GI-TOC
observatories.

The New Zealand government has also funded the GI-TOC
to initiate research into human smuggling in South and
South East Asia. The GI-TOC is developing Resilience
Fund activities for capacity building, coordination and
collaboration among civil society groups and individuals
in South East Asia - in various organized crime fields.
We launched a cross-continental investigative journalism
grant programme that is supporting over 20 investigative
journalism pieces and in November were proud to sup-
port the Global Investigative Journalist Network (GIJN)’s
annual conference at which the GI-TOC-sponsored ‘Guide
to Investigating Organized crime’ was launched.

lllicit flows of plastic waste

Timed to coincide with COP26, the observatory released
‘Plastics for profit: Tracing illicit plastic waste flows, supply
chains and actors’, a report that outlinines the devastat-
ing impacts of the illicit trade in plastic waste. The report
examines a highly criminalized supply chain of misdecla-
ration and concealment of hazardous and mixed waste,
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money laundering, financial crime and corruption, involving
networks of brokers, recycling companies, logistics and
shipping entities, as well as corrupt officials who arrange
the shipping of hazardous and mixed waste from countries
such as the United States, the UK and the Netherlands
to Malaysia, the Philippines and other countries pre-
dominantly in the Global South. In recipient countries,
consignments are illegally disposed of in the absence of
suitable processing facilities. There is also evidence of
convergence with other criminal activities, e.g. drugs,
prostitution, human trafficking and modern slavery. With
follow-up interviews published in the Los Angeles Times,
and other media outlets, and plans for direct government
engagement - including with the US - the observatory
intends to curb the illicit activities associated with this
organized illicit trade.

China’s Belt and Road Initiative

The observatory’s work understanding the impacts of
China’s Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) on illicit trade con-
tinues, with a particular focus on how it is being used to
promote traditional Chinese medicine around the world
and the potential impacts this will have on biodiversity, as
well as how criminal networks are exploiting infrastructure
developments and loopholes in domestic and international
legislations. This complements our work under MMFU (see
next subsection) understanding the online trade dynam-
ics in this respect.
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Monitoring and Market Friction Unit

A key component of the observatory's work is the
Monitoring and Market Friction Unit (MMFU), launched
early in 2021 using data developed by Cascade (the
GI-TOC’s online internet scraping tool) as the foundation
for a suite of holistic and collaborative working efforts and
practices across all sectors - public, private, commercial and
governmental. The unit’s work has progressed significantly
with the launch of its first community tool - ‘Assessing
online wildlife marketing: a tool for monitoring illegality’,
which has been accessed over 500 times since its release.

In November, the unit released its first market monitoring
report on African grey parrot markets, with a study on the
sale of traditional Chinese medicine products containing
pangolin parts due for release soon. This analysis forms
the basis for a range of interactions and engagements with
community actors, including law enforcement agencies,
platforms, advocacy groups and civil society actors, with
the objective of reducing opportunities for trade and pro-
tecting vulnerable species. It is the unit’s intention to build
a body of new market-leading methodologies that will be
shared with several organizations, governments and law
enforcement agencies to pursue illegality and the asso-
ciated criminal actors and networks.
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West Africa

The GI-TOC’s newest observatory - the Observatory of
llicit Economies in West Africa, established in June 2021 -
monitors and analyzes trends in organized crime, and its
relationship with instability and conflict, across 18 countries
in West Africa, central Africa and the Sahel. The obser-
vatory works in conjunction with the North Africa and
Sahel observatory network to cover the Sahelian states.

In 2021, the observatory’s work has principally revolved
around two projects commissioned by the German Ministry
of Foreign Affairs and the Deutsche Gesellschaft flr
Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), together with ongo-
ing work in Guinea-Bissau under the observatory. As a
result of these contracts, the GI-TOC has been able to
solidify its presence in the region and expand existing
programming activities. The GI-TOC presence in Guinea-
Bissau, established in 2020 jointly with the UN system
in the country, operates under the umbrella of the West
Africa observatory.

The observatory is strengthening the GI-TOC'’s network
across the region, and aims to bring together civil society,
and support stakeholders to better understand criminal
trends and their impact on instability and conflict in the
region. The coordination of regional civil society meetings
in 2022 will support the consolidation of network-build-
ing activities.

The observatory is coordinating a range of programming
activities, including:

= mapping regional illicit markets in West and central
Africa;

m  creating a system of regular reporting to build an
evidence base for stabilization and peacebuilding
interventions;

= building capacity among regional civil society
stakeholders researching transnational organized
crime; and

®  enhancing engagement between civil society and
state actors in responding to criminal markets.

The observatory produces policy briefs and analytical
reports on regional issues, including the impact of return-
ing Chadian armed groups from the war in northern Libya

to the Sahel region; the role of illicit markets in shaping
conflict and peacekeeping in Mali; the political economy
of violence in Nigeria; and the relationship between gold
mining and instability. The observatory is coordinating a
hotspot mapping exercise across the region, whose findings
will be consolidated into a report and form the baseline
for ongoing activities. The observatory has developed a
quantitative methodology to analyze the degree to which
illicit markets in the identified hotspots operate as vec-
tors of instability in the region. The results of this ana-
lytical process will be launched in the first half of 2022.

The observatory also produces quarterly risk bulletins.
This new publication, modelled on similar risk bulletins
produced by the GI-TOC’s other regional observatories,
covers issues and trends related to illicit markets, insta-
bility and conflict across the region.

The observatory also focuses on building resilience in local
communities across West and central Africa. Together
with the Resilience Fund, it supports local civil society and
community organizations in strengthening the response
to organized crime and mitigating the harms it causes.
Resilience-strengthening activities among several local
organi-zations have been selected and supported during
2021, and over 200 local actors participated in GI-TOC-
led events, principally in Guinea-Bissau. The observatory
is also developing a series of capacity-building modules,
which will be delivered to elements of civil society work-
ing to monitor organized crime in West Africa, through a
mixture of virtual and in-person events. The first capacity-
building events are scheduled for March 2022, hosted in
Abidjan, Cote d'lvoire.

Publications

Soldiers of fortune: The future of Chadian
fighters after the Libyan ceasefire

This report describes the typologies of Chadian fighters
active in Libya and the central Sahara, and their role as
mercenaries and enablers in the transnational mercenary
trade in Libya's second civil war. Chadian fighters have
long been key actors within the constellation of armed
groups active in the Sahel and central Sahara, but the
October 2020 ceasefire in Libya - and the ensuing drop in
fighting - are reshaping the role that they play in regional
illicit markets and stability dynamics.
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Summer Walker and A Gomes
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Quarterly Risk Bulletin

The first West Africa Risk Bulletin scrutinized the rela-
tionship between jihadist violence and local illicit econ-
omies in Burkina Faso and Céte d'lvoire, the revenue
sources of bandit groups behind the upsurge in violence
in north-western Nigeria, and the implications of the
unlawful temporary release of cocaine traffickers impris-
oned for coordinating two bumper cocaine imports in
Guinea-Bissau.

The second Risk Bulletin was a special issue exploring the
complex relationship between artisanal gold mining and
instability in West Africa.

Community resilience to transnational
organized crime in West Africa: The
experience of six communities in Nigeria,
Burkina Faso and Guinea-Bissau

The first research output under the OCWAR-T project,
this report, for which data collection was carried out in
December 2021, explores the building blocks of commu-
nity resilience to transnational organized crime in fragile
and conflict contexts.

Guinea-Bissau

Between January and June 2021, Guinea-Bissau out-
puts published on the GI-TOC website generated 1 584
page views. Views and pickup are expected to surge fol-
lowing publication of the remaining outputs, including in
Portuguese, and enhanced dissemination activities in the
upcoming quarter. Community dialogues and podcasts
featured influential stakeholders.

WEST AFRIGA’S
COCAINE CORRIDOR

Building & subregional response

ILLICIT ECONOMIES
IN GUINEA-BISSAU

' 'DEEP-ROOTED "
INTERESTS

Licen éing illicit logging in Guinea-Bissall.
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Lucia Bird
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Mission not accomplished?

This brief examines the role of the UN Security Council
and the steps it has taken in Guinea-Bissau, with a par-
ticular focus on its attention to the impact of drug traf-
ficking on political stability, beginning in 1998 and leading
up to the mission closure in 2020.

West Africa’s cocaine corridor

This report explores the criminal ecosystem underpinning
the import, storage and onward trafficking of cocaine
through Guinea-Bissau, and its neighbouring fragile states,
towards end markets in Europe.

Deep-rooted interests

This brief scrutinizes recent developments in Guinea-
Bissau's illicit logging market, which have accelerated in
anticipation of the lifting of the ban on logging exports.

The observatory published two podcasts on the GI-TOC's
Deep Dive podcast series on Guinea-Bissau’s civil soci-
ety and illicit markets, and onillicit logging in the country.

Supporting civil society organizations

The observatory also identified six local civil society orga-
nizations to receive grants. We have helped reinforce the
capacities of these CSOs to better plan, implement and
report based on high-quality and objective research, and
enhance their expertise in fighting organized crime and
illicit markets.

The Observatory is coordinating two civil society work-
shops, one as part of the ENACT consortium, to be held
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in March and April 2022 in the region. The workshops
will include capacity building, networking and knowledge
dissemination activities.

Short-term projects

In addition to multi-year projects, the West Africa
Observatory is conducting two smaller, deliverable-based
projects.

lllegal mining and criminal networks in West
Africa

Artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) takes place across
West Africa, generating hundreds of millions of dollars
annually. The ASM sector and associated minerals trade
is highly attractive to criminal actors due to the high value
and informality of the sector. Key to minimizing opportu-
nities for networks is building a sound understanding of
the complex, largely secretive web of activities, actors,
supply chains and financial flows. This investigation is
funded by the US Bureau of International Narcotics and
Law Enforcement Affairs (INL); it began in October 2020
and will continue for two years. Research is carried out
by a consortium comprising the GI-TOC, the University
of Queensland, the University of Mines and Technology,
Tarkwa, Ghana, and the US Geological Survey. We adopt
a multi-faceted approach that triangulates research and
data from different sources to build a more comprehen-
sive and holistic understanding of criminality and trans-
national organized crime organizations in the West Africa
mineral sector, as well as the involvement of and links to
violent extremist organizations and countries outside the
region. Reliable data on the scale and spread of ASM is
needed, as well as an improved knowledge of the supply
chains, illicit financial flows and criminal networks that

underpin and perpetuate criminality in the West Africa
ASM sector. To provide the insights and resources that
can aid INL and other stakeholders to best disrupt illegal
mineral supply chains in the future, it is critical to develop
new tools, including technology and investigative meth-
ods, and build local capacity.
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7h GLOBAL
INITIATIVE
R

A T

ILLIGIT.
ECONOMIES

ANDARMED
CONFLICTES

Ten dynamics that drive
instability

lllicit economies and armed conflict: Ten
dynamics that drive instability

This report, funded by the German Foreign Ministry to
produce a report, analyzes transnational organized crime
in crisis contexts. The report was designed to consider
three case studies at different stages of armed conflict
to assess the dynamic relationship between criminal
networks, illicit economies, and conflict actors and con-
ditions. These three case studies offer unique perspec-
tives in terms of duration, size of the conflict area and
stage of the conflict. The report draws on findings from
two expert workshops to debate and discuss elements
on Latin America and Africa.
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Resilience Fund: Supporting community
responses to organized crime

In 2021, the Resilience Fund (henceforth, ‘the Fund’) consolidated and expanded its pro-
gramme of support to civil society initiatives that build community resilience to organized
crime around the world. These efforts have been supported throughout the ongoing social,
economic and health crises caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, and in the face of increas-
ingly difficult and dangerous circumstances for civil society activists and organizations. By
the end of 2021, the Fund supported over 100 organizations and individuals in a diverse
range of initiatives and projects - all of which strengthen their community, and global, resil-
ience to organized crime.

To name a few examples, in 2021 the Fund supported the following initiatives:

m  Efforts to prevent human and sex trafficking in Haiti, Rwanda, Vietnam, Kenya and
Uganda.

= |nvestigative journalists reporting on organized crime in Mexico, Mozambique and
Guatemala.

m  Efforts to prevent natural resources and the environment being exploited through
organized crime in Kenya, Zimbabwe and Madagascar.

= Building youth resilience in crime hotspots in Albania, and across the Western Balkans
region more broadly.

= Vijolence interruption and peacebuilding initiatives in South Africa, Liberia and Colombia.

®m  Research and policy-focused coalitions of civil society in Guinea-Bissau and Pakistan.

THE GLOBAL INITIATIVE AGAINST TRANSNATIONAL ORGANIZED CRIME
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to organized crime

As they build their communities’ own resilience, our grantees share their lessons with one
another, including through the Fund’s own bespoke and innovative app, VIVA, and they
engage with their local authorities, national governments and the international community
- such as through UN events and public engagement undertaken by the Fund's Fellowship
programme. In doing so, our grantees are contributing to the global evidence base and pro-
viding case studies and tools for improved state and international responses to organized
crime. Their efforts are being increasingly noticed and supported by the international com-
munity as they continue their work despite the inherent risks and dangers that they face.

Growing financial and political support for courageous members of
civil society

Civil society actors put themselves at risk when they engage in activities to prevent organized
criminal activity or mitigate its damaging effects, or when they expose corruption or chal-
lenge the power structures that allow organized crime and the violence associated with it to
thrive. The pandemic has exacerbated these risks and dangers to civil society, and the Fund
has been able to support those in most need of assistance thanks to our funding partners, in
particular the government of Norway. Following its programme of support for civil society in
the Western Balkans in 2020, the government of Germany is continuing its financing for Fund
grantees in 2021. In addition, the governments of New Zealand and the Netherlands have also
joined the Fund's range of funding partners in 2021.
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Grantee growth
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A PLACE CALLED

eat. Diamiely Reo
Rosario Luces

In 2021, the Fund continued its partnership with the UN Development Programme in Guinea-
Bissau. Taken together, the funds available for grants under the Fund have grown from US$1.96
million to US$3.49 million between 2019 and 2021. This growing support from the interna-
tional community has enabled a stable growth in the number of grantees whom we can sup-
port around the world. And, importantly, it sends a message of moral and political support
to these courageous members of civil society: that the international community cares about
what is happening in violent communities affected by criminal governance.

Highlighting pertinent organized crime issues through the
Resilience Fellowship

i} The 2020 Fellowship under the Resilience Fund supported a global cohort
';}::'%Em of individuals to work in their communities and collaboratively on the issue
of disappearances related to organized crime. The main collaborative output
was finalized in 2021: the Landscapes project is an outcome of this collabo-
ration. ‘Landscapes’ documents disappearances throughout the world fea-
turing contributions by all of the 2020 Fellows. This project is a collaboration
between the Resilience Fund Fellows and award-winning Mexican journalist
Daniela Rea, author of the project’s centrepiece essay and documentary on
disappearances, ‘A Place Called Disappeared’, which is closely linked to the
Fellows” work in their communities and includes contributions by them. Find
out more at landscapes.globalinitiative.net.

For 2021, the Fellowship theme was extortion and organized crime. Each
of the 10 Fellows was supported in their work with communities, in which
they were encouraged to pursue collaborative projects. They were provided
with mentorship, training opportunities and different international platforms for the dis-
semination of their work. From Guatemala to Indonesia, 10 Fellows were selected for their
projects, which dealt with systemic issues that have come to normalize extortion in their
respective communities. Through a series of dialogues, the Fellows also collaborated on a
joint statement highlighting extortion ecosystems and their impact on these communities.
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Engaging and influencing policy

The value of Fund grantees’ work is not only of benefit to their own organizations and com-
munities. Through their engagement with the GI-TOC, in 2021 they have contributed to a
number of policy briefs, podcasts and research reports. This contemporary research and evi-
dence provide opportunities to engage in UN and other multilateral meetings, and thereby
influence policy. The Fund'’s grantees have presented their work at several UN meetings in
2021, including the 14th UN Crime Congress in Kyoto, and the 30th UN Commission on
Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice in Vienna.

| . THE
FORGOTTEN ONES

Relatives of murdered
and disappeared journalists in Mexico

]

The .l'rofe of women in community
' fesponses ltu organized crime

RESILIENCE
FUND

--°'..-..- MY

The Mexican Ambassador in Vienna expresses
his government’s support for the Resilience
Fund at the 14th UN Congress on Crime
Prevention and Criminal Justice in Kyoto.

Resilience Fund grantee Gerson Nozea addresses the 14th UN
Congress on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice in Kyoto, Japan.
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Global Organized Crime Index

As the first global tool of its kind, the 2021 Global Organized Crime Index builds upon the
2019 ENACT Organised Crime Index for Africa, with an expanded scope covering 193 coun-
tries. Launched in September 2021, this year’s Index captures data and analysis from 2020,
evaluating criminality and resilience dynamics around the world, against the backdrop of
the COVID-19 pandemic.

As an analyftical tool, the Index presents not only an innovative approach
Global i to the analysis of organized crime flows but also a more nuanced look at
Organized the scope and scale of 10 criminal markets, the structure and influence of
Crime Index four criminal actor types, and the existence and effectivness of 12 resil-
ience building blocks. These three domains are used to assign each coun-
try a criminality score and resilience score using a scale of 1 to 10, with
scores accompanied by country narratives that provide an overview of the
national context to allow users to not only compare rankings, but exam-

ine more closely the criminality and resilience dynamics of each country.

The tool is accompanied by a report, which introduces the Index structure
and methodology, sets out analysis of the Index results both thematically
and by continent, and outlines key patterns, dynamics and relationships
among indicators. The report highlights the adaptability of organized crime
to the pandemic, and the ubiquity of the problem. For example, among
the Index’s key findings is that the majority of people worldwide (nearly
80%) live in countries with high levels of organized crime, while the short-
comings in global levels of resilience are widespread.
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Drawing on in-depth desk research and the input of over 350 experts with country, regional
and thematic expertise, the tool creates an extensive repository of relevant country data
and information, providing a solid baseline for deeper investigation and analysis. It guides
policymakers in their efforts to respond to the organized crime threats they face. Since its
launch, the Index has been lauded as an important learning tool and resource for research-
ers, analysts, policymakers and civil society around the world. The Index tool, country narra-
tives and report in English, French, Spanish and Arabic are hosted on an interactive website
(ocindex.net).
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Assassination Witness

Over the years, the GI-TOC has witnessed the tremendous human cost of organized crime
and how criminals strategically use assassinations to gain control over people and territories.
In light of the gravity of the situation, the GI-TOC developed Assassination
Witness, a multifaceted initiative that encompasses the GI-TOC's flagship
campaign #AssassinationWitness and the Global Assassination Monitor data-
base. The campaign was officially launched on 15 June 2020 with the release
of the book Faces of Assassination: Bearing Witness to the Victims of Organized
Crime. The book was launched at a virtual event attended by international
experts and family members of victims of assassination.

The aim of this initiative is to draw public attention to the high number of peo-
ple across the world who, standing up for the truth, transparency and public
integrity, face grave threats of violence. The project also aims to provide a
better evidence base and to inform multilateral policymakers on the ways in
which assassinations are used strategically by criminal actors and corrupt net-
works, calling on the international community to provide better responses to

assassinations, and to strengthen community resilience to this crime.

GI-TOC INITIATIVES


https://assassination.globalinitiative.net/

Over the past year, the GI-TOC has actively followed up on the cases profiled e
in Faces of Assassination and has highlighted important developments on the
search for justice. On every death anniversary, we remember those assassi-
nated and demand justice through our social media channels. We also publish
blog posts and share information in our newsletter. We maintain an up-to-date
news repository of the cases that are in the public domain. The GI-TOC also
continues to publish new profiles of assassinations on the project’s website.

A dedicated podcast series, ‘Faces of Assassination’, launched in September

2020, discusses the struggles and challenges that many people face and offers
specific solutions to this global problem. The series now contains 17 podcast
episodes, including six round tables, three interviews with victims' family

members and international experts, and eight individual stories. SRy o1 ORAL
INITIATIVE

the GI-TOC and its partner LIBERA hosted an event where regional experts FAEEB I]F
exposed the threats suffered by those who denounce corruption in Europe. ASEA55|NATIUN
In March 2021, we held a virtual event on the monitoring of assassinations

during the 14th UN Congress on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. pearing witness
to the victims

of organized-crime

In December 2020, as part of International Anti-Corruption Day activities,

We are now focusing on the data-driven component of the programme: the
Global Assassination Monitor. Both the Monitor and its first data-driven #ASSASSINATIONWITNESS
report, ‘Killing in Silence: Monitoring the Role of Organized Crime in Contract

Killings’, were published in November 2021. The study looks at incidents that

occurred in 2019 and 2020 and aims to fill the knowledge gap on contract ciomaL
killings and organized crime. The report was published alongside an interac-
tive data visualization tool available on our website. Currently, an environmen-
tal crime track is being developed. The stream aims to look at assassinations
related to environmental crime in the Asia-Pacific region, in collaboration with

KILLING IN

the Asia-Pacific observatory.

MONITORING THE ROLE
(OF ORGANIZED CRIME
IN CONTRACT KILLINGS

#ASSASSINATIONWITNESS

ZASSASSINATIONSWWITNESS:

BEARING
MONITORING ASSASSINATION AND
WWITNESS T0 THE \ICTIMS OF ORGANIZED CRIME
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The Global lllicit Economy

In 2018, the Conference of Parties to the UN Convention
Against Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC) estab-
lished a review mechanism that offers a limited yet sig-
nificant opportunity for civil society groups to engage
with state parties.

The GI-TOC hopes that this review mechanism can be a
focal point through which civil society can push forward
substantive debate and contribute to the international
agenda on organized crime.

As part of our efforts to maximize the efficacy and impact
of this opportunity, and funded by the government of
Switzerland, the GI-TOC published a flagship, wide-ranging
report on global organized crime trends, ‘The global illicit
economy: Trajectories of transnational organized crime’.
The report was published both to support discussions at
the UNTOC Conference of Parties in 2020 and launched
on the occasion of the 14th UN Crime Congress at a vir-
tual side event. The authors have presented the report
since in a number of online events.

The report surveys the global drivers of illicit economies
over the last 20 years. It shows how organized crime is a
common denominator to the world’s major challenges and
a driver of unsustainable development. It is designed to
show the inter-relationships and interdependence between
global mega-trends and the trajectories of organized crime
since 2000, the year the UNTOC was adopted.

Itis written from the perspective of civil society, drawing
on consultations with the GI-TOC's secretariat, its Network
of Experts and recipients of the Resilience Fund. In 2019,
we held nine consultations in five regions: Europe, North
America, South America, South East Asia and Africa. We
co-hosted consultations with Network members, and it
is based on data that is in the public domain, gathered
through research and analysis.

Through vivid visualizations and analysis, the report
focuses on the evolution of five major illicit economies
over the past two decades: human exploitation, illicit envi-
ronmental markets, illicit drugs, cybercrime and the illegal
tradein licit and counterfeit goods. The report also looks
at emerging trends of how organized crime may operate
in the future and concludes with recommendations on
how to change the trajectories of crime.

MARCH 2021

THE GLOBAL
ILLICIT ECONOMY

Trajectories of transnational
organized crime

h GLOBAL
INITIATIVE

Punctuated with interviews from journalists, authors and
civil society leaders, this report moves from mega-trends
to local impacts, and brings fresh approaches and differ-
ent perspectives to intergovernmental processes, aimed
at stimulating new thinking for stakeholders.

Given the pandemic, we geared the launch towards virtual
audiences in March 2021. We produced a video captur-
ing the key points of the report, which is on our website.
Watch the video here.

Our website statistics - captured quarterly - showed 4 000
views of the report for the first month of the report’s
launch. Our intention is to disseminate the hard copy
widely to ensure that this flagship publication is on the
desk of policymakers in capitals and international orga-
nizations in order to ring the alarm bell about the impact
of organized crime, and to stimulate remedial action.

GI-TOC INITIATIVES
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The lllegal, Unreported and Unregulated (IlUU) Fishing Index

The IUU Fishing Index 2019 received international media attention and has
been used widely by governments, academia and civil society organizations.
Following the success of the IUU Fishing Index 2019, an update for 2020

was launched in December 2021. Just like the 2019 Index, the 2021 update The Illegal,
benchmarks countries’ exposure to, and performance in, combating IUU fish- Unreported and
ing. To ensure comparability between the 2019 Index and the 2021 update, Unregulated

changes in methodology have been kept to a minimum. The same countries Fishing Index
are included in the Index, the same scoring methodology has been applied, s s
and the same number of indicators have been included. The 2021 update
therefore allows users to track countries’ performances in combating IUU
fishing over time. This will help policymakers in identifying areas where inter-
ventions have worked best, and areas where more interventions are needed.
Given the success of the IUU Fishing Index 2019, the 2021 Index is expected

to be used just as widely. POSEIDON

Criminal Contagion
TUESDAY REITANO AND MARK SHAW
How Mafias, Gangsters and Scammers Profit from a Pandemic
COVID-19 has turned our idea of ‘normal’ upside down. Governments, social
orders and the world economy have all been challenged and reshaped in pre-
viously unimaginable ways.

The flow of illegal goods and services is no exception. Organized criminal -
How Malias, Gangsters and

groups adapted and even profited from the weaknesses that the pandemic Seaniriers Peohit foia Panderiic
created or exposed. Cybercrime boomed, new prohibition markets emerged,
a lack of safeguarding left children open to exploitation, while corruption pro-

liferated in health care systems.

In their new book, Criminal Contagion: How Mafias, Gangsters and Scammers
Profit from a Pandemic, Tuesday Reitano and Mark Shaw outline how differ-

ent criminal markets responded to COVID-19, and the long-term impact the
pandemic could have on the global illicit economy

Reporter Lindy Mtongana spoke to
Tuesday Reitano and Mark Shaw about
how different criminal markets responded
to COVID-19, the long-term impact the
pandemic could have on the global illicit
economy, and their new book. Watch the
full interview here.
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GI-TOC ACADEMIC ENGAGEMENT

The GI-TOC's focus on academic engagement serves as a bridge between academia and policy.
It aims to utilize the GI-TOC's unique strengths to bridge existing global networks, support aca-
demics to engage with policy processes and provide an avenue for policymakers to connect with
key academics in the fields of illicit economies and transnational organized crime. To further these
aims, in October 2020 the GI-TOC appointed a director of academic engagement.

Over the course of the past year, the organization has expanded the GI-TOC's partnerships with
a number of universities around the world, such as the Universidad de los Andes in Colombia, the
University of Milan, the University of Cape Town, the London School of Economics (LSE), the Jackson
Institute at Yale University, the University of Oxford, the University of Groningen, the University
of Essex and the University of Hong Kong. Alongside this, the GI-TOC has cemented its role as
the home of the International Association for the Study of Organized Crime and has adopted core
secretariat functions for the International Society for the Study of Drug Policy.

The GI-TOC is currently co-developing three pioneering global short courses:

® A course focused on organized crime and citizen security in Colombia
Jounat of Micit Eoonomies e B
. = el , - with the Universidad de los Andes that was delivered online for the

" = first time in November 2021.
CEy—— = = A West Africa tailored course on transnational organized crime for
B== West African civil society and researchers.
® A course focusing on crime, instability and conflict co-branded with
m e the University of Oxford.

The GI-TOC also publishes three issues a year of the open access Journal
of lllicit Economies and Development (JIED), published in close partnership
with LSE Press. To guide the journal in its strategic development and pri-
orities for 2021-2023, the JIED has recently appointed 24 strategy com-

. mittee and editorial board members representing a diversity of thematic
and geographical expertise as well as of stakeholder and gender balance
across the world.

GI-TOC ACADEMIC ENGAGEMENT
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Overview of 2021 outputs

Agreements with nine global universities to develop teaching, training, research and
network-building capacity have been established in 2021. We launched two projects with
students examining illicit economies in the Balkans and Central America. The GI-TOC has
developed and delivered one executive short course with a leading Latin American uni-
versity, the Universidad de los Andes, and is developing two executive short courses for
implementation in West Africa as part of the ENACT consortium and another with a lead-
ing UK university.

Dozens of peer-reviewed articles were published in the JIED covering all aspects of orga-
nized crime and illicit economies, with over 25 000 open-access downloads to date.

The GI-TOC has increased publication in leading peer-reviewed journals, with roughly 10
articles published or under production with diverse journals such as the JIED, the LSE Public
Policy Review, the International Journal of Drug Policy and others.

The GI-TOC has assumed leadership of the Drugs and Development Hub, in partnership
with the GIZ Global Partnership on Drug Policies and Development. It is co-hosting a series
of workshops and events on policy capacity building in Africa in 2021 and 2022.

In addition, we are producing four special issues in peer-reviewed journals in 2021-2022
and have a number of books under development with academic and independent publish-
ing houses. We are supporting the translation of a book by a Latin American researcher to
enable publication in English markets.

Continuing the International Association for the Study of Organized Crime (IASOC)’s tradition
of honouring the best and brightest in organized crime research, the GI-TOC is supporting
IASOC in awarding the four prizes (for best journal article, best book, best PhD dissertation
and distinguished scholar) every year.

Together with the Standing Group on Organised Crime of the European Consortium of
Political Research, the Center for Information and Research on Organized Crime and IASOC,
the GI-TOC organized the second edition of the 24-hour virtual conference on global orga-
nized crime (OC24) on 1-2 December. This year's conference grew by more than 25% since
the first OC24 conference in 2020, with more than 80 panels scheduled over the course of
24 hours, attracting many speakers and participants from academia, as well as other stake-
holder groups (NGOs, law enforcement, governments, etc).
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The GI-TOC has launched the LinkedIn group ‘lllicit economies and organized crime:
Researchers and policy professionals’. This group has 500 members who share knowl-
edge, experience and insights into the world of transnational organized crime research,
academia and study. The group is aimed at creating new connections between
the GI-TOC and the academic community, and building a receptive audience for the
GI-TOC’s products.

JIEDzwmomesmd [ Press @D

Development | oy

ARE YOU:

an academic / scholar / researcher /
policy professional / practitioner

WHOSE WORK IS FOCUSED ON
ORGANIZED CRIME AND ILLICIT
ECONOMIES?

hd

Join our LinkedIn group

‘Illicit Economies and Organized Crime’

The GI-TOC's Asia-Pacific observatory is planning a special issue of the JIED on explor-
ing the nexus between human vulnerabilities and environmental crime to be published in
February 2022.

Much has been written on the implications of environment crime for biodiversity, but the
human cost and impact of this form of crime are often neglected. Through this special issue,
the editors wish to highlight the ways in which crime undermines the livelihoods, human
rights and lives as a whole of the individuals and communities along the supply chain of illicit
environment commodities.

The call for abstracts, which closed on 31 July 2021, was open to academia, the policy world

and civil societies alike, and invited contributions in English as well as other languages. It
particularly encouraged submissions from Asia.
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GI-TOC MULTILATERAL ENGAGEMENT

In 2021, the GI-TOC scaled up its official engagement in UN meetings and processes, its
coordination with other NGOs, its partnership with UN agencies and government missions,
and policy analysis around UN processes. This included partnering with UN programmes,
co-hosting and leading side events in partnership with UN organizations, member states
and other organizations, participating in a wide range of official intergovernmental meetings,
and launching several GI-TOC reports and products in multilateral settings. As a relatively
large and well-resourced civil society organization, we have also ensured that we use our
voice to advocate for civil society access to UN processes, as this access has been placed
increasingly under threat owing to hostility from some member states.

14th UN Congress on Crime Prevention and
Criminal Justice

The GI-TOC'’s engagement with the congress began well in advance of the meeting itself,
with two policy-focused publications in 2019 and 2020, and with the launch of the Road
to Kyoto podcast series throughout 2020. In 2021,

just before the congress, the podcast

series launched a special episode fea-

turing messages and recommendations

from a diverse selection of GI-TOC GLOBAL
INITIATIVE
Network members, followed by an ACARGE HAGHATIONA

episode during the congress itself and

one after the congress reflecting on = i1 ANetwork
to Counter
Networks

the way ahead.

GI-TOC statement at the 14th United Nations
Congress on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice
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Alongside the podcast, the GI-TOC published a number of blogs comment-
ing on the negotiation process and the contents of the outcome document
of the congress, the Kyoto Declaration. In addition, the GI-TOC published an
advocacy video calling for civil society to be listened to at the congress, in
the context of hostility to civil society involvement including some member
states’ attempts to block access for specific civil society organizations on polit-
ical grounds. At the congress, the GI-TOC's director delivered a statement
on behalf of the GI-TOC at the plenary, we launched the report ‘The global
illicit economy’ at an official side event, and hosted two side events - on the
#AssassinationWitness initiative and on the Resilience Fund.

G7 and G20

To mark the G7 leaders’ summit in the UK, the GI-TOC made use of its grow-
ing evidence base and analysis on environmental crime to publish a series of
recommendations to G7 ministers on tackling organized environmental crime.
This was circulated to high-level contacts in the G7 and other governments,
as well as to the diplomatic community covering environmental crime issues
in Vienna and New York. The GI-TOC also engaged directly with the Italian
presidency of the G20, as well as with the Civil Society 20 Anti-Corruption
Working Group. The outcome of this engagement process was a policy brief,
created with the collaboration of members of the GI-TOC Network of Experts,
calling for increased coordination between all the multilateral processes aimed
at preventing and countering organized crime and corruption, or ‘organized
corruption’. The report was launched at an event at the 30th UN Commission
on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, in partnership with the Italian presi-
dency of the G20, the UN Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and other civil
society partners, and moderated by GI-TOC Board member Gladwell Otieno.

725 GLOBAL
) INITIATIVE

EROADS -

LEADAO-ROME
Towards agoeordinated multilateral response
to organized crime and corruption .

any 2031

EXPANDING

THE TOOLKIT TO
TACKLE ORGANIZED
ENVIRONMENTAL CRIME
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Vienna-based policymaking bodies

The GI-TOC participated in three side events at the 64th UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs,
with a focus on our latest research on synthetic drug markets, which were presented at two
side events alongside UNODC, INTERPOL, the UK government and the Institute for Security
Studies. We also partnered with GIZ and the London School of Economics to deliver a side
event exploring the environmental impacts of drug-related organized crime. Following the
event, the GI-TOC was invited to brief a meeting of the International Narcotics Control Board
on the impacts of illicit financial flows on development and security.

At the 30th UN Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, the GI-TOC's activ-
ity was wide-ranging:

m  The GI-TOC’s deputy director was invited to present our latest research on human
smuggling as part of the official panel of the Institutes of the UN Crime Prevention and
Criminal Justice Programme Network.

m  GI-TOC representatives participated in nine side events.

= Five GI-TOC policy and research reports were launched.

m  The GI-TOC’s director issued a message to all delegates focused on the importance of
civil society in responding to organized crime.

The GI-TOC has continued its engagement at the CND and CCPCJ in the intersessional
period, providing statements, coordinating engagement with broader civil society, including
Resilience Fund grantees, and providing analytical blogs coinciding with meetings.

GI-TOC senior analyst Lucia Bird speaking at a UN Commission on Crime and Criminal Justice side event launching a report on
gender and organized crime, alongside civil society and governmental partners.
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UNTOC review mechanism

The GI-TOC partnered with the UNODC in the Stakeholder Engagement 4 U programme
to support civil society engagement in the review mechanism of the UNTOC, through train-
ing, capacity building and networking. We will continue to bring civil society perspectives to
the review mechanism and explore broader issues outside of the scope of the convention
that need to be addressed in designing effective whole-of-society responses to organized
crime, through a project supported by the government of Switzerland and other partners.

UN cybercrime treaty process

In February 2022, the UN will formally begin its debate on a universal cybercrime instrument.
The GI-TOC has raised awareness of the negotiation process during 2021 through analysis,
by speaking at events such as at Chatham House, hosting a GI-TOC Network discussion on
the agenda, and by publishing a policy brief ahead of the onset of formal discussions. We
continue to engage with member states and civil society to ensure that civil society can con-
tribute to this process, which could have far-reaching legal and practical effects.

New York-based processes

This year, the GI-TOC participated in the two high-level crime-related agendas happening
in New York - the UN General Assembly Special Session on Corruption (UNGASS) and the
High Level Reviews of the Global Plan of Action to Combat Trafficking in Persons.

The GI-TOC continues to analyze the ongoing agenda on corruption at the UN. The GI-TOC
attended the UNGASS held in June 2021 in New York, and co-hosted an official side event with
the government of France, Transparency International and the Wildlife Justice Commission,
titled ‘Leveraging the best tools to address environmental crime enabled by corruption’.
GI-TOC Board member Vusumzi Pikoli spoke on illicit mining in South Africa and the GI-TOC's
New York representative Summer Walker moderated the event. The GI-TOC attended the
9th Conference of States Parties (COSP) to the UN Convention Against Corruption, and
co-hosted a side event on the benefits of linking the UNCAC and UNTOC frameworks. The
GI-TOC also attended the US Summit for Democracy in December 2021. During the sum-
mit, USAID Administrator Samantha Power launched the 2022 Combating Transnational
Corruption Grand Challenge, to which the GI-TOC has pledged to contribute. During the
high-level event, the GI-TOC’s deputy director, Tuesday Reitano, highlighted the challenges
posed by corrupted state-embedded actors who are able to stonewall international coop-
eration and legislation, warp their own domestic institutions and undermine the rule of law.
Also in December, the GI-TOC attended the Open Government Partnership (OGP) Summit,
hosted by South Korea, focusing on anti-corruption and strengthening civic spaces.

The GI-TOC also addressed the UN Multi-stakeholder Hearing on the Global Plan of Action
to Combat Trafficking in Persons in July 2021, and was granted special accreditation to
attend the November 22-23 High-Level high-level meeting of the General Assembly on
the appraisal of the United Nations Global Plan of Action to Combat Trafficking in Persons.
Staff participated in related side-events and followed the process, producing analysis fol-
lowing the meeting.

GI-TOC MULTILATERAL ENGAGEMENT
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Additionally, the GI-TOC participated at a side event on corruption and gender at the
Commission on the Status of Women; and the GI-TOC'’s deputy director, Tuesday Reitano,
spoke at an event hosted by Sweden on crime, conflict and the way ahead for the UN Police.

Other settings and regional bodies

The GI-TOC was invited to brief a meeting of the World Health Organization Framework
Convention on Tobacco Control and been invited to join their Meeting of Parties as an
observer. The GI-TOC has continued to build its relationship with regional bodies over the
last year. Notably, the GI-TOC is now regularly invited to brief official meetings of the OSCE.
The GI-TOC was an official observer at the Organization of American States’ Third Meeting of
National Authorities on Transnational Organized Crime in June 2021, and the 50th Meeting
of the Group of Experts for the Control of Money Laundering.

Security through Cooperation

In early 2022, Routledge will publish a new book by the GI-TOC's director of
the south-eastern Europe observatory, Walter Kemp, entitled Security through
Cooperation: To the Same End.

This book makes the case for why cooperation is the key to security within
and between states, and for dealing with complex threats and challenges to

international peace and security (including transnational organized crime).

It argues that cooperation is not altruism or liberal internationalism, rather it

ROUTLEDGE NEW DIPLOMACY STUDIES

SECURITY THROUGH
CO TION

he Same End

is in the self-interest of states. Drawing on both theory and practice, it looks
at how cooperation can be promoted within and between states as well as
in the global community. It explains the concept of ‘cooperative security’ and
its potential contribution to promoting integration against the current of frag-
mentation. Furthermore, the book explores thepotential impact of technol-
ogy on cooperation. It makes an urgent call for new ideas and approaches to
encourage people and states to work together to deal with complex threats
and challenges.

This book will be of particular interest to students of diplomacy studies,
foreign policy and international relations, and to practitioners dealing with
security issues.
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GOING FORWARD:

A GLOBAL STRATEGY
AGAINST ORGANIZED CRIME

There is a growing body of evidence, not least reports by the GI-TOC, such as the ‘Global
Organized Crime Index’ the ‘Global lllicit Economy’, as well as the ‘World Atlas of lllicit Flows’, that
organized crime is a growing threat to security, development, governance and the environment.

Despite the global and serious nature of this threat and a normative framework to deal with it
- namely the UNTOC - there is no global strategy to prevent or address it. This not only ham-
pers the ability of states to deal with organized crime, but also enables organized crime to exac-
erbate other global threats and challenges, including the destruction of the environment, the
smuggling of migrants, cybercrime and money laundering and corruption. Furthermore, lack of
a strategy in the face of organized crime impairs global objectives like achieving the sustainable
development goals, slowing climate change, as well as resolving conflicts and building peace.

It is important to recall that one of the main reasons for establishing the GI-TOC was to cre-
ate the building blocks towards a global strategy on transnational organized crime. In the past
decade, the need for such a strategy has become ever more marked and urgent.

Itis not sufficient for the GI-TOC to simply identify problems: we also need to put forward solu-
tions. Therefore, it was announced in 2021 that the GI-TOC intends to start working on the
building blocks of a global strategy against organized crime. The aim is to enhance the analysis
of organized crime, mobilize action against it and support resilience to organized crime in order
to reduce its negative impact on people, the environment, businesses and states.

Experience shows that, to be successful, such a strategy will have to build on existing intergov-
ernmental processes and be as inclusive and consultative as possible, by engaging, for example,
a wide range of stakeholders, including civil society, the private sector, law enforcement as well
as parliamentarians, in addition to the various spheres and levels of government.

In terms of process design, the aim is to have a series of consultations with different stake-
holders and experts on a wide range of issues that could be considered the building blocks for
a global strategy against organized crime. These discussions will take place throughout 2022,
resulting in a draft report in 2023.
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APPENDIX

PERFORMANCE AGAINST
THE STRATEGY 2021-2023

In January 2021, the Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime (GI-TOC) pro-
mulgated a strategy that would allow us to achieve our mission statement - To enhance the
analysis of, encourage action against, and support resilience to organized crime to reduce
its impact on people, the environment, businesses and states - and to build a truly global,
efficient and impactful organization.

The GI-TOC strategy for 2021-23 has five core objectives:

1. Awareness and analysis: Increasing the evidence base and understanding of organized
crime;

Action: Facilitating and catalysing innovative, policy-relevant responses;

Resilience: Strengthening local resilience and responses to organized crime;
Partnerships: Enhancing and leveraging partnerships for more effective response, and

vk oD

The future: Consolidating a decade of growth and positioning the organization for the
future.

These objectives are intended to position the GI-TOC as it enters its second decade, to lever-
age the organization’s key advantages in reach, inclusiveness, credibility, agility and good gover-
nance, to make a valuable contribution to engage with key counterparts, and to make a valuable
contribution to reducing the global harms caused by organized crime.

Under each of the five objective areas, the strategy laid out a set of activities that would pro-
vide a roadmap for the governance and management bodies of GI-TOC to achieve those goals.
The target is to achieve these within the three-year period of the strategy.

For ease of reference, we have developed a ‘speedometer’ of progress, which shows the rate
of progress against the activities. Only when the full goal has been completed will it be marked
‘achieved’. At the time of writing this report, at the end of the first year of the reporting period,
in some cases projects were yet to be initiated.
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yet to be initiated

Activity report

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES PROGRESS TRACKER
(First of three years)

Lol

1. Awareness and analysis:
Increasing the evidence base
and understanding of organized
crime

2. Action: facilitate and catalyze
innovative policy-relevant
responses

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

2.2.

2.3.

in progress

achieved

Continue to publish a steady stream of high-quality reports
each year as well as shorter publications.

Increase the number of regional observatories from five to
seven.

Increase the number of GI-TOC outputs in languages other
than English.

Expand the geographic and thematic range of topics to
ensure that the outputs have a truly global perspective and
coverage.

Broaden the range of GI-TOC outputs, including podcasts,
videos, infographics and webinars, as well as their
promotion through the media, and define metrics to
measure the impacts of publications of digital outputs

. Regional observatories will develop a diverse range of

products and convene at least five dialogues per year
around their outputs.

Invest in tools (including digital metrics) that can track and
measure more effectively the impact of GI-TOC outputs
and build an evidence basis on how the GI-TOC influences
outcomes).

Increase Network member engagement by holding group
discussions (using online platforms if necessary) around
specific regions and issues as well as GI-TOC products, in
addition to our current quarterly Network virtual group
discussion.

APPENDIX e PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE STRATEGY 2021-2023
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES PROGRESS TRACKER
(First of three years)

3. Resilience: Strengthen local 3.1. Grow the Resilience Fund by 10 percent per year
resilience and responses to
organized crime

D

3.2. Extend the number of funded projects to at least five in
(each of) Latin America, Africa, Asia and the Western
Balkans

GRANT GEOGRAPHIC
BREAKDOWN

Europe

Americas

Asia

Sub-Saharan Africa

Middle East and North
Africa

3.3. Develop a hub on lessons learned and how to replicate
them.

3.4. Develop a centralized repository and online resources for
local anti-organized crime initiatives.

3.5. Enhance monitoring and evaluation of GI-TOC and GI-TOC
supported initiatives to better assess their impact, risk and
effectiveness.

4. Partnerships: Enhance and 4.1. Use the presence of the GI-TOC in key hubs of international
leverage partnerships for more dialogue (e.g. NY etc) to facilitate meetings and side events,
effective responses. and create opportunities to input ideas to key TOC related

meetings and debates.

4.2. Strengthen network and partnerships with academic
institutions and develop a module on TOC that can be used
for teaching.

4.3. Grow partnerships with regional and global law
enforcement agencies.

4.4. Initiate a strategic discussion between law enforcement and
the private sector on strengthening partnership to prevent
and combat TOC.

EEEEEE
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES

4.5.

5. The Future: Consolidate a
decade of growth and position
the organization for the future.

4.6.

4.7.

5l

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

Enhance publishing partnerships with academic journals,
including JIED.

Facilitate at least one meeting per year involving
international and/or regional organizations to promote the
idea of a global strategy on TOC.

Develop a (donor) partnership with at least one foundation
and one private sector entity per year.

Established regular (virtual) regional network group
discussions, linking to global experts and trans-regional
online workshops to exchange ideas and experiences to
policymakers.

Increase members of the Network from under-represented
regions and professional backgrounds.

Enhance internal coordination and workflow while
maintaining decentralizations by a yearly all-staff retreat
and regular online meetings.

Increase staff training on security, legal and research/
methodical issues.

Review publications procedures and develop a publications
stra tegy to ensure sustainable growth, timely delivery and
maximum impact on GI-TOC material.

Develop guidance on archiving and access to GI-TOC
material to maintain institutional memory, enhance user-
friendliness and cross referencing to GI-TOC research
and publications, and grow the GI-TOC as a “learning
organization”.

Based on lessons learned from adapting as a result of
COVID-19, make more effective use of video conferencing
and webinars to provide direction, simulate debate,
connect staff, liaise with strategic partners and affected
communities, and reduce travel costs and carbon footprint.

Develop a strategy to celebrate the 10t anniversary of
GI-TOC.

PROGRESS TRACKER
(First of three years)
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APPENDIX ® PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE STRATEGY 2021-2023

61



CAPE TOWN

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021




Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

General Information
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Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa, to maintain adequate accounling records and are
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs
of the company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period
then ended, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To
enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors sets standards for internal control aimed at
reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of
duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company and all
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s business is conducted
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of
the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors are satisfied that the company has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

The independent reviewer is responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the company's annual
financial statements. The annual financial statements have been examined by the company's independent reviewer
and their report is presented on pages 4 to 5.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 6 to 20, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the directors on 05 May 2022 and were signed on their behalf by:

L

Director
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Mazars House, Rialto Road
Grand Moorings Precinct
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Docex 9 Century City
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Independent Reviewer’s Report
31 December 2021

To the Members of Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC

Report on the Review of the Annual Financial
Statements

We have reviewed the annual financial statements of Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised
Crime Cape Town NPC, set out on pages 8 to 20, which comprise the statement of financial pasition
as at 31 December 2021 and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the annual
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements

The company's directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Reviewer's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these annual financial statements. We conducted our
review in accordance with International Standards on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (Revised),
Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements. ISRE 2400 (Revised) requires us to conclude
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the annual financial
statements, taken as a whole, are not prepared in all material respects in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework. This Standard also requires us to comply with relevant ethical
requirements.

A review of annual financial statements in accordance with ISRE 2400 (Revised) is a limited assurance
engagement. The independent reviewer performs procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries
of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and
evaluates the evidence obtained.

Registered Auditor — A firm of Chartered Accountants (SA) + IRBA Registration Number 900222

Partners: MC Olckers (National Co-CEOQ), MV Ninan (National Co-CEQ), JM Barnard, AK Batt, AS De Jager, DS Doliman,
M Edelberg, Y Ferreira, T Gangen, R Groenewald, AK Hoosain, MY Ismail, N Jansen, J Marais, B Mbunge, FN Miller,

G Molyneux, A Moruck. S Naidoo. MG Odendaal, W Olivier, D Resnick. BG Sacks, MA Salee, N Silbowitz, SM Solomon,
HH Swanepoel, AL Swartz, MJA Teuchert, N Thelander, JC Van Tubbergh, N Voischenk, J Watkins-Baker

A full list of national partners is available on request or at www.mazars.co.za
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The procedures performed in a review are substantially less than those performed in an audit conducted
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion
on these annual financial statements.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

As is common with similar companies, it is not feasible for the company to institute accounting controls
over cash collections from donations, prior to initial entry of the collections in the accounting records.
Accordingly, it was impracticable for us to extend our examination beyond receipts actually recorded,
therefore, we have been unable to satisfy ourselves as to the compieteness of donations received.

Qualified Conclusion

Based on our review, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Conclusion
paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these annual financial
statements do not present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of Global Initiative Against
Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC as at 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act
of South Africa.

Other Matter

Without qualifying our opinion. we draw attention to the fact that supplementary information set out on
page 21 does not form part of the annual financial statements and is presented as additional
information. We have not reviewed this information and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

The annual financial statements include the directors’ report as required by the Companies Act of South
Africa. The directors are responsible for directors' report. Our conclusion on the annual financial
statements does not cover the directors' report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our independent review of the annual financial statements, we have read the
directors' report and, in doing so, considered whether the directors' report is materially inconsistent with
the annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the independent review, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of the directors' report, we will report that fact We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Mazars

Mazars

Partner: M Odendaal
Registered Auditor
5 May 2022

Cape Town



Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Global Initiative
Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC for the year ended 31 December 2021.

1. Nature of business

Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC was incorporated in South Africa with
interests in the Non-profit industry. The company operates in South Africa.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the company’s business from the prior year.

2. Review of financial results and activities
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. The
accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company are set out in these
annual financial statements and do not, in our opinion require further explanation.

3. Directors

The directors in office at the date of this reporl are as follows:

Directors Nationality
G.S.W Otieno , Kenyan

E.E Alemika Nigerian
P.H.P Gastrow South African
P.V Pikoli South African

There has been no changes to the directorate for the period under review.
4. Covid-19

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, the entity has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the annual financial
statements and considered the potential impact on the entity. As at the date of approving these annual
financial statements, management have assessed that there is no material impact on the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. Management will continue to assess the financial impact of
COVID-19.

5. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to 31 December 2021 the company has closely monitored developments regarding the crisis
between Russia and Ukraine. As at the date of approving these annual financial statements the directors have
assessed that there is no material impact on the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021. The directors will continue to assess the impact of the crisis. This is a non-adjusting subsequent event.

Apart from the above, the directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the
reporting date and up to the date of this report.

6. Going concern

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future, including specific consideration of the risk associated with COVID-19, and accordingly the
annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing
facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes
that may adversely Impact the company. The directors are also nol aware of any material noncompliance with
statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.



Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Directors' Report

7. Review
The annual financial statements are subject to an independent review and have been reviewed by Mazars.
8. Liquidity and solvency

The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the Companies Act of South
Africa, of which the outcome was satisfactory.



Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021

Figures in Rand Notes 2021 2020

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 181,146 144,766

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 3 2,122,666 147,216

Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,152,038 3,286,210
3,274,704 3,433,426

Total Assets 3,455,850 3,578,192

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Retained income 2,459,036 2,412,788

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5 996,814 1,165,404

Total Equity and Liabilities 3,455,850 3,578,192




Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Figures in Rand Notes 2021 2020
Revenue 6 16,080,479 24,893,150
Operating expenses (16,035,459) (22,487,752)
Operating profit 7 45,020 2,405,398
Investment revenue 8 1,228 -

Surplus for the year

46,248 2,405,398




Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Changes in Equity

Retained Total equity

Figures in Rand income

Balance at 01 January 2020 7,390 7,390
Surplus for the year 2,405,398 2,405,398
Balance at 01 January 2021 2,412,788 2,412,788
Surplus for the year 46,248 46,248
Balance at 31 December 2021 2,459,036 2,459,036
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Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Cash Flows

Figures in Rand Notes 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash (used in) generated from operations 10 (2,052,860) 3,283,074

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (81,312) (108,157)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from loans of other financial liabilities - 20,162,304
Repayment of loans from other financial liabilities - (21,888,450)
Net cash from financing activities - (1,726,146)
Total cash movement for the year (2,134,172) 1,448,771
Cash at the beginning of the year 3,286,210 1,837,439
Total cash at end of the year 4 1,152,038 3,286,210
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Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Accounting Policies

1.

1.1

1.2

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities, and the Companies Act of
South Africa. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate
the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.
Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Management are required lo make critical judgements in applying accounting policies from time to time. The
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the annual financial statements, are outlined as follows:

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life taking into account the residual values where
appropriate. The actual useful lives of assets and residual values are assessed annually. In re-assessing
assets' useful lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programs
are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the company holds for its own use or for rental to
others and which are expected to be used for more than one period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs
incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the
carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management.
Depreciation is charged to write off the asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated
residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset's economic benefits are
consumed by the company.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation Average useful life
method

Furniture and fixtures Straight I!ne 5 years

Computer equipment Straight line 5 years

Computer software Straight line 2 years

12
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Accounting Policies

1.2

13

14

Property, plant and cquipment (continued)

When indicators are present that the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
have changed since the most recent annual reporting date, they are reassessed. Any changes are accounted
for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be
impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than
the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the
carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the
carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

Financial instruments
Initial measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at the transaction price (including transaction costs except in the
initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss)
unless the arrangement constitutes, in effect, a financing transaction in which case it is measured at the
present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost

These include loans, trade receivables and trade payables. Those debt instruments which meet the criteria in
section 11.8(b) of the standard, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Debt instruments which are classified as current assets or current liabilities are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the cash expected to be received or paid, unless the arrangement effectively
constitutes a financing transaction.

At each reporting date, the carrying amounts of assets held in this category are reviewed to determine whether
there is any objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective evidence, the recoverable amount is
estimated and compared with the carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount is lower, the carrying
amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are operating leases.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless:

«  another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the benefit from the leased asset, even if
the payments are not on that basis, or

« the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation (based on published
indexes or statistics) to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

13
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Accounting Policies

1.5 Impairment of assets

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

The company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that asset may be impaired.

If there is any such indication, the recoverable amount of any affected asset (or group of related assets) is
estimated and compared with its carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount is lower, the carrying
amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or group of related assets) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or group of assets) in prior years. A
reversal of impairment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such
as leave pay and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the
period in which the related service is rendered and are not discounted.

Grants

Grants that do not impose specified future performance conditions are recognised in income when the grant
proceeds are receivable.

Grants that impose specified future performance conditions are recognised in income only when the
performance conditions are met.

Grants received before the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied are recognised as a liability.
Grants are measured at the fair value of the asset received or receivable.

Revenue

Revenue consists of funds received from fundraising projects, fees and donations received.
Revenue is recognised if the performance conditions of the grants are met.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

14
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Accounting Policies

1.10 Foreign exchange
Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the
transaction.

At the end of the each reporting period:

« foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

* non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and

* non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

The foreign exchange component of a non-monetary item is recognised consistently with any other gains or
losses on those items, in other comprehensive income or is transferred from queity in other comprehensive
income and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or loss.

1.11 Related parties

Individuals or entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly
control the other party, or excerise significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or
operating decisions. The directors of the company are to be key management and consequently related
parties. Related party transations and balances are disclosed in note 12.

16
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Figures in Rand 2021 2020
2. Property, plant and equipment
2021 2020
Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated  Carrying
depreciation value depreciation value
Computer equipment 214,536 (561,297) 163,239 133,224 (19,374) 113,850
Furniture and fixtures 39,998 (22,109) 17,889 39,998 (9,550) 30,448
Computer software 899 (881) 18 899 (431) 468
Total 255,433 (74,287) 181,146 174,121 (29,355) 144,766
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2021
Opening Additions  Depreciation  Closing
balance balance
Computer equipment 113,850 81,312 (31,923) 163,239
Furniture and fixtures 30,448 < (12,559) 17,889
Computer software 468 - (450) 18
144,766 81,312 (44,932) 181,146
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020
Opening Additions  Depreciation  Closing
balance balance
Computer equipment 19,856 107,258 (13,264) 113,850
Furniture and fixtures 38,447 - (7,999) 30,448
Computer software - 899 (431) 468
58,303 108,157 (21,694) 144,766
3. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 1,995,872 -
Prepayments - 40,307
Deposits 126,794 106,909
2,122,666 147,216
4. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances 1,152,038 3,286,210
5. Trade and other payables
Trade payables 273,859 850,835
Income received in advance 5,049 6,648
Accrued leave pay 442,521 5
Other payables 275,385 307,921
996,814 1,165,404
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

6. Revenue

Grant income 16,080,479 24,893,150

7. Operating profit
Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges

Premises

«  Contractual amounts T 452,790 441,121
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 44,932 21,694
Employee costs 8,565,020 7,536,982

8. Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Bank 1,228 -

9. Taxation

The company is registered as a Public Benefit Organisation and accordingly is exempt from taxation in terms
of section 10(1)(cN) of the Income Tax Act.

10. Cash (used in) generated from operations

Surplus before taxation 46,248 2,405,398
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 44,932 21,694
Loss on foreign exchange 5,759 48,452
Interest received (1,228) -
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (1,975,450) 368,255
Trade and other payables (173,121) 439,275

(2,052,860) 3,283,074

11. Commitments
Operating leases — as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 63,461 409,171
- in second to fifth year inclusive - 63,461

63,461 472,632

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the company for certain
of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of one year.
No contingent rent is payable.

17



Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime Cape Town NPC
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

12. Related parties

Relationships
Companies under common control The Global Initiative Against Transnational
Organised Crime
The Global Initiative - Verein gegen
transnationale organisierte Kriminalitat
Members of key management E E Alemika
G S W Otieno
P H P Gastrow
P V Pikoli

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade Payables regarding related parties
The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte
Kriminalitat

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime

Amounts included in Trade Receivables regarding related parties

The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte 538,894
Kriminalitat
The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime 1,424,077

Related party transactions

Revenue from related parties

The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte (1,264,905) (1,118,589)
Kriminalitat

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime (13.954,003) (23,587.227)
Operating expenses paid to related parties

The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte - 307,858
Kriminalitat

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime 713,621 757,220

13. Directors’ and prescribed officer's remuneration
No emoluments were paid to the directors or any individuals holding a prescribed office during the year.
14. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2021
Financial Total
assets at
amortised
cost
Trade and other receivables 2,122,666 2,122,666
Cash and cash equivalents 1,152,038 1,152,038

(81,255)

(640,507)

3,274,704 3,274,704
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

14.

15.

16.

17.

Financial assets by category (continued)

2020
Financial Total
assets at
amortised
cost
Trade and other receivables 106,909 106,909
Cash and cash equivalents 3,286,210 3,286,210

3,393,119 3,393,119

Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2021
Financial Total
liabilities at
amortised
cost
Trade and other payables (549,243) (549,243)
2020
Financial Total
liabilities at
amortised
cost
Trade and other payables (1,158,756) (1,158,756)
Covid-19

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, the entity has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the annual financial
statements and considered the potential impact on the entity. As at the date of approving these annual financial
statements, management have assessed that there is no material impact on the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Management will continue to assess the financial impact of COVID-19.

Going concern

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future, including specific consideration of the risk associated with COVID-19, and accordingly the
annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concemn basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing
facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes
that may adversely impact the company. The directors are also not aware of any material noncompliance with
statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

18. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to 31 December 2021 the company has closely monitored developments regarding the crisis
between Russia and Ukraine. As at the date of approving these annual financial statements the directors have
assessed that there is no material impact on the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021. The directors will continue to assess the impact of the crisis. This is a non-adjusting subsequent event.

Apart from the above, the directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting
date and up to the date of this report.
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Detailed Income Statement

Figures in Rand Notes 2021 2020
Revenue
Revenue 16,080,479 24,893,150
Operating expenses
Bank charges 8,782 23,260
Computer expenses 502,411 403,157
Consulting fees 5,327,116 10,656,623
Depreciation 44,932 21,694
Employee costs 8,565,020 7,536,982
Independent reviewer's fee 35,700 112,072
Insurance 8,744 2,943
Intercompany recharge costs - 307,858
Legal expenses 231,167 203,398
Loss on exchange differences 5,759 48,452
Operating charges 10,990 -
Other expenses 1,251 -
Postage 6,007 3,484
Printing and stationery 5,973 15,520
Rent paid 452,790 441,121
Repairs and maintenance 9,132 8,817
Service fees 154,626 99,113
Staff welfare 24,306 29,372
Subscriptions 85,959 77,656
Telephone and fax 5,489 6,147
Training 64,406 555,891
Travel - local 259,138 1,494,477
Website publications 225,761 439,715
16,035,459 22,487,752
Operating profit 7 45,020 2,405,398
Investment income 8 1,228 -
Profit for the year 46,248 2,405,398
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m azars Mazars LTD

Chemin de Blandonnet 2
CH-1214 Vernier-Genéve

Tel +41 22 708 10 80
www.mazars.ch

Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of Members on the
limited statutory examination of The Global Initiative against Transnational
Organized Crime, Geneva

As statutory auditor, we have examined the financial statements (balance sheet, statement of income
and expenses and notes) of The Global Initiative against Transnational Organized Crime for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board. Our responsibility is to perform a limited
statutory examination on these financial statements. We confirm that we meet the licensing and
independence requirements as stipulated by Swiss law.

We conducted our examination in accordance with the Swiss Standard on the Limited Statutory
Examination. This standard requires that we plan and perform a limited statutory examination to identify
material misstatements in the financial statements. A limited statutory examination consists primarily of
inquiries of entity personnel and analytical procedures as well as detailed tests of entity documents as
considered necessary in the circumstances. However, the testing of operational processes and the
internal control system, as well as inquiries and further testing procedures to detect fraud or other legal
violations, are not within the scope of this examination.

Based on our limited statutory examination, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the financial statements do not comply with Swiss law and the association’s articles of
incorporation.

MAZARS LTD
Jean-Marc Jenny Henrique Gongalves
Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert

Auditor in charge

Geneva, 20 May 2022

Enclosure
» Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 (Balance sheet, statement of income
and expenses, notes)



The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime
Geneva

Balance Sheet as of 31st December 2021
(in Swiss Francs)

2020 2021
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2'088'131 438'735
Grants receivables 13’362 247°'306
Sister organisation receivables 183197 184’498
Other current receivables 46’734 27’618
Accrued income 1’185’898 2'696'426
Transitory expenses 102018 61°285
Current assets 3'619'340 3'655'868
Fixed assets 16’253 11’627
Financial assets 25’567 50’841
Non-current assets 41’820 62’468
LIABILITIES
Short-term liabilities
Vendors payables 138574 112’756
Sister organisation payables 64’170 420'798
Other current payables 222’414 298’531
Accrued expenses 215207 313877
Deferred income 2'403'344 1’505'982
Short-term liabilities 3'043'709 2'651'944

Association own funds

Balance brought forward -151’187 617°451
Excess of income over expenditures 768638 448941
Total association own funds 617451 1’066°392



The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime
Geneva

Statement of Income and Expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 compared to 2020
(in Swiss Francs)

2020 2021
INCOME
Grants received 7'355'324 6'783'444
Revenue from sister organisation 450’162 383’705
Income received in advance 313’546 919’528
Accrued income variation 217°093 1'496'463
Donations in kind 141’554 120’680

PROGRAMME EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs and salary consultants -3'5649°127 -4’153'944
Salary and consultant fees from sister organisation -613'548 -929'342
Consultant costs -2'390'901 -3'138'439
Consultant costs in kind -4'853 -10'780
Grants 0 -49'943
Travel expenses -223'826 -373'910
Professional services -102'814 -103'624
Communications, media and outreach -140’061 -138'659
Net contribution to overheads 1'452'549 805’179
Rental and maintenance -29'470 -30'335
Rent in kind -108'742 -102'048
Administration costs -367°095 -367°230
VAT not recoverable 0 -3'698
Overhead -195'172 -60'406
Depreciation -3'308 -4’626
Earnings before financial results 748762 236’836
FINANCIAL RESULTS

Interests received 12’551 2’287
Exchange gain & losses 27°262 -20123
Bank fees -30'782 -40'858

OPERATION FROM PREVIOUS YEARS

Operating revenue from previous years 25922 275’503
Operating charge from previous years -15°077 -4'704

Excess of income over expenditures 768638 448’941



The Global Initiative Against Transnational
Organized Crime Geneva

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2021

(in Swiss Francs)

Association domicile
Avenue de France 23, 1202 Genéve

Scope of the association
Promote cross-border and catalytic processes that attract new players and facilitate remodeling of reflection,
coordination and responses to transnational organized crime; invigorate the global debate around
transnational organized crime in order to promote sustainable translation and implementation of new
approaches within a multilateral framework, regional and national levels; undertake research and develop
new policy options to help inform a strategic development at national, regional and international levels;
create the basic materials of a global strategy on organized transnational crime.

Accounting principles applied in the preparation of the financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of commercial accounting
as set out in the Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 957 to 963b CO).

Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised on the basis of donor specific contracts using the percentage of completion
method and related accruals have been booked in the balance sheet.

Contribution

Contributors in CHF in %
Australia 3’687 0.04%
Belgium 69’374 0.71%
Canada 352’652 3.63%
Europe Union 1743154 17.96%
Germany 1°090'853 11.24%
Institute for Security Studies as implementing 640’520 6.60%
New Zealand 26’549 0.27%
Norway 1911°012 19.69%
Smaller projects and sister organisations 424°497 4.37%
Switzerland 238044 2.45%
Core Contribution 100°000 1.03%

Rent in kind 109°906 1.13%

Civil Society Engagement in UNTOC Mechanism 1 -5'488 -0.06%

Civil Society Engagement in UNTOC Mechanism 2 33627 0.35%

The Netherlands 9’673 0.10%
UNDP 10’774 0.11%
United Kingdom 1’928'550 19.87%
United Nations 71744 0.74%
United States of America 1’182'838 12.19%
Total 9'703'820 100.00%




The Global Initiative Against Transnational
Organized Crime Geneva

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2021

(in Swiss Francs)

Contribution received from the United Kingdom
Following the specific requirement of the donor the following projects have been funded by the United
Kingdom. Specific exchange rate have been used as stated on the grants agreements.

Projects Name Contract N° in GBP
Civil Society Observatory for E and S Africa 204227-109 695621
Civil Society Observatory for E and S Africa 204227-112 754’386
Civil Society Observatory of the lllicit economy in Guinea- C19800 88’448
Bissau

Organised Crime and Violence in Jamaica 300358-121 0
Political Economy of Organised Cime in the Levant Region 300358-122 16026
Global Security Rapid Analysis - COMRETOC 300358-146 29159

Expenditure recognition
Expenses are recognized in the financial statements on an accrual basis.

VAT Affiliation
In December 2020, the organization obtained its affiliation to the Swiss VAT regime. Certain conditions
remain underlying. VAT savings for 2020 were already accounted for in the 2020 financials statements.
Further savings related to 2018 and 2019 have been recognised in 2021 when fully validated by Swiss
authorities.

Declaration of full-time equivalents
The association employs about sixty consultants - employees (2020 - forty) of which less than ten are
located in Switzerland.

Pension liabilities
2020 2021

Liability to pension scheme as at 31st December CHF 7'834.80 CHF 8'469.90

Lease commitment not considered in the financials
The Swiss confederation is providing an in-kind contribution covering the rent for the Geneva's office space.
This contractual agreement ends by 31 December 2023.

Exchange Rates applied

Devises 2020 2021
AUD 0.6857 0.6701
CAD 0.6987 0.7246
DKK for 100 14.7608 14.1011
EUR 1.0946 1.0453
GBP 1.2130 1.2469
JPY for 100 0.8634 0.8032
NOK for 100 10.4358 10.4725
NZD 0.6429 0.6302
PKR for 100 0.5552 0.5181
SEK for 100 10.8575 10.2091
SGD 0.6739 0.6837
THB for 100 2.9763 2.7703
Usb 0.8908 0.9233
ZAR 0.0609 0.0581




The Global Initiative Against Transnational
Organized Crime Geneva

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2021

(in Swiss Francs)

Operation from previous years

Operating revenue from previous years
2020
As a result of a VAT affiliation from January 1, 2020 (note VAT affiliation above) the association has
reassessed the VAT related to its previous years projects and accordingly adjusted the related recharges for
the years 2018 and 2019, along with its own declarations. In addition other minor revenues related to
previous years are recognised in this balance.

2021
Following the VAT affiliation, the final assessment from the Swiss authorities was concluded in 2021. The
association received back all the payments that were made in excess for the years 2018 and 2019.

Operating charge from previous years
2020
An exhaustive verification of the expenditure over the last three years has highlighted an incorrect amount of
overhead on one of the projects financed by Norway requiring a correction.

2021
Subsequent to the VAT affiliation, the association received the invoices for the radio and television fees
related to Swiss public transmissions.

Contingencies and litigations
During the 2020 year, a third party individual instigated proceedings against three Gl staff members alleging
defamation for a paper published under the EU-funded ENACT programme in 2018.

The GI-TOC has engaged legal counsel who considers that the claim has no merit, and they have
recommended that to defend by all means necessary against the allegations which have been filed in the
High Court of Kenya. An interlocutory procedural motion was refused in March 2021. Once the case begins,
the process is likely to take upwards of 18-24 months to conclude. There were no significant developments
in 2021 in relation to this case.

In August 2021, a third party Somali lodged a case with the Kenyan Constitutional Court claiming that Gl-
TOC researchers had breached his human rights in investigations on corruption relating to government
tendering in the fishing industry, a piece of work funded under an UK grant. An appeal was lodged by the GI-
TOC and the case has not been heard.

Accordingly, and in line with Swiss regulations, a contingent liability has been made in the financial
statements to cover litigation costs and the required percentage of a potential judgement.

Subsequent events
The Management assessed subsequent events occuring after the date of the annual financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2021. It has not noted the existence of any significant event likely to require a
moditication of the annual accounts.
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To the
Members of the Management Board of

The Global Initiative — Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitat
Schwarzenbergplatz 1/3™ floor
1010 Vienna

We have completed the review of the financial statements as of 31 December 2021 of

The Global Initiative — Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitat

1010 Vienna, Schwarzenbergplatz,

(referred to as ,the Association®)

and provide the results of our review in the following report:

1. CONTRACT AND PERFORMANCE OF THE ENGAGEMENT

The Management Board of The Global Initiative — Verein gegen transnationale organisierte
Kriminalitat, Vienna, concluded a contract with us to review the financial statements as of
31 December 2021, consisting of balance sheet, income statement and notes to the financial

statements pursuant to UGB (Austrian Company Code).

We conducted our review in accordance with the legal requirements and generally accepted
standards on review engagements as applied in Austria, particularly the Expert Opinion ,Principles
on review engagements of financial statements® (KFS/PG 11; Grundsatze fur die pruferische
Durchsicht von Abschllissen) prepared by the Professional Committee for Company Law and Audit
of the Institute for Business Administration, Tax Law and Organisation of the Austrian Chamber of
Tax Advisors and Public Accountants and International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE

2400) ,Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements®.

We performed the review, with interruptions, from February 2022 to March 2022 at our premises

in Vienna. The review was substantially completed at the date of this report.



Responsible for the proper performance of the engagement is Mr. Glnther Mayrleitner, Austrian
Certified Public Accountant.

The Association's legal representatives provided all evidence and explanations requested by us.
We obtained a representation letter signed by the legal representatives which we included in our

working papers.

Our review is based on the contract concluded with the Association. The “General Conditions of
Contract for the Public Accounting Professions" issued by the Austrian Chamber of Tax Advisors
and Auditors (refer to Appendix B) form an integral part of the contract. These conditions of contract
do not only apply to the Association and the auditor, but also to third parties. Section 275 UGB
(Austrian Company Code) applies with regard to our responsibility and liability as auditors towards
the Association and towards third parties. Our responsibility and liability as auditor is analogously
to Section 275 UGB (Austrian Company Code; liability regulations for the audit of small and
medium-sized companies) limited with a total of 2 million Euro towards the Association and towards

third parties.



2. REVIEW REPORT

Introduction

We have reviewed the attached financial statements of The Global Initiative - Verein gegen
transnationale organisierte Kriminalitat, Vienna, for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021. The financial statements include the balance sheet dated 31 December 2021 and
the income statement for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 as well as the

notes to the financial statements.

The legal representatives of the Association are responsible for preparing these financial
statements. They are also responsible to ensure that the financial statements present a true and
fair view of the assets, the financial position and the financial performance of the Association in

accordance with Austrian Company Code (UGB).

Our responsibility is to provide an assessment summary of these financial statements, based on

our review.

Our responsibility and liability for actual damage due to gross negligence is guided by section 275
para. 2 UGB (Austrian Company Code) and is limited to a total of 2 million Euros. Our liability for
minor negligence is excluded in accordance with the General Conditions of Contract for the Public
Accounting Professions (AAB 2018), as amended, on which this engagement is based. The
limitation of our liability agreed with the client and stated here shall also apply in respect of any
third party who undertakes or refrains from actions whilst relying on our report. As our report has
only been prepared on behalf of the client, it is no basis for a possible trust of third parties on its

content. Therefore, third-party claims cannot be derived from this report.

Scope of the review
We conducted the review in compliance with the auditing principles applicable in Austria, in

particular KFS/PG 11 “Principles on review engagements for financial statements".

The review of financial statements includes enquiries, addressed primarily to those responsible
for finance and accounting, as well as analytical assessments and other investigations. A review
is carried out on a considerably smaller scale and includes less information than an audit of
financial statements, and it therefore does not allow us to ascertain with the certainty comparable
to an audit of financial statements that we are aware of all essential facts. For this reason, we

shall not issue an audit opinion.



Assessment summary

On the basis of our review we did not identify any facts that causes us to believe that the attached
financial statements do not present a true and fair view of the Association's assets and financial
position as of 31 December 2021 and the financial performance for the period from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021.

This report is intended solely for the informational requirements of the Management Board of The

Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitat, Vienna, as our client and

must not be disclosed to third parties, in whole or in part, without express consent.

Vienna, 18" March 2022

‘il bH
Wirtschz gfgiungsgesellschaft
. l‘ er Mayrleitner ' Mag. Elisabeth Hasler
Ausjrian Certified Public Accountant Austrian Certified Public Accountant

This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid.

Publication or sharing with third parties of the financial statements together with our report is only allowed if the financial
statements are identical with the German reviewed version. This report is only applicable to the German and complete financial
statements. Section 281 para. 2 UGB (Austrian Company Code) applies to alternate versions
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The Global Initiative - Yerein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

1. Balance sheet as at December 31, 2021

ASSETS
A. Fixed assets

I. Tangible assets
1. Tools and equipment

B. Current assets

I. Accounts receivable and other assets
1. Accounts receivable - Affiliated companies
thereof other
2. other receivables and assets

II, Bank balances

C. Prepayments and accrued income
Total assets

2021-12-31 2020-12-31
- BUR EUR
9,172.80  10,475.71
32349297  62,020.79
323,492.97 62,020.79
308,677.22  499,544.57
632,170.19  561,565.36
683,792.14  822,710.17
1,315,962.33 1,384,275.53
78,045.00  144,695,99
1,403,180.13 1,539,447.23




The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

I. Balance sheet as at December 31, 2021

ASSOCIATION'S EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES

A. Association's equity

I. Association's result
thereof profit carried forward from the previous years,
thereof accumulated losses brought forward

B. Provisions
1. other provisions

C. Liabilities
1. Accounts payable - Trade
2. Accounts payable - Affiliated companies
thereof trade
3. other liabilities
thereof taxes
thereof social security

D. Accruals and Deferred income
Association's equity and liabilities

2021-12-31 2020-12-31
EUR EUR
135,728.83  25,133.27
2513327  -33,986.28
94,884.58  57,435.15
83,108.51  55,739.54
206,360.69  131,780.60
206,360.69 131,780.60
23.862.57  24,855.67

2,791.06 2,845.76
20,903.53 22,009.91
31333177 212,375.81
859,234.95 1,244,503.00
1,403,180.13  1,539,447.23




The Global Initiative - Yerein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

I1. Income statement for the fiscal year 2021

. Revenue

a. Public subsidies
b. other income

2. other operating income

3. Cost of purchased services

hel

10.

o N oo

-

a. Statutary task fulfillment costs
thereof personnel expenses

Personnel expenses
a. Salaries
b. Social security costs

Amortisation and Depreciation
a. Of tangible fixed assets
other operating expenses

Subtotal no. 1 to 6 (Operating result)

Net profit for the year

profit carried forward from the previous years, accumulated

losses brought forward
Association's result

2021 2020

EUR EUR
3,656,916.97  3,226,520.80
529,846.22  223,691.51
4,186,763.19  3,450,212.31
808.46 1,591.14
-527,320.95  -409,627.56
-527,320.95 -409,627.56
-869,234.74  -592,521.87
-194,169.52  -138,505.04
-1,063,40426  -731,026.91
-7,075.56 -3,888.82
2,479,175.32  -2,248,140.61
110,595.56 59,119.55
110,595.56 59,119.55
25,133.27 -33,986.28
135,728.83 25,133.27




The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

II1. Notes

for the fiscal year 2021
of

The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte
Kriminalitit, Vienna



The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

1 Accounting and valuation principles

1.1 General principles

The financial statements as of December 31, 2021 was prepared in accordance with current
accounting principles of the Unternehmensgesetzbuch (UGB, Austrian Corporate Code) and the
Vereinsgesetz (VerG, Austrian Association Act),

The association is classified as "medium" according to § 22 VerG as the relevant criteria were
exceeded in 2019 and 2020. As the asscociation exceeded the criteria for two consecutive
years, the legal consequesces of a "medium" association have occurred as of 2021. Therefore,
the association is obligated to prepare annual financial statements consisting of the balance
sheet and the profit and loss statement. Furthermore, the association is obliged to have the
financial management of the association audited by the auditors with regard to the correctness
of the accounting and the use of the funds in accordance with the articles of association within
4 months of the preparation of the annual financial statements.

Since the size criteria of a "large" association according to § 22 VerG were exceeded in the
previous year and in the current financial year, the legal consequences of a large association
will therefore apply at the beginning of the following year 2022.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Austrian generally
accepted accounting principles and the general principle of presenting a true and fair view of
the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Association,

The principle of completeness was applied at preparation of the statutory financial statments.
The valuation was based on the assumption of the continuation of the association.

The principle of individual valuation was applied in the valuation of assets and liabilities.
Estimates are based on prudent judgment. To the extent that statistically determinable
experience from similar situations is available, these have been taken into account in the
estimates.

Taking into account the principle of prudence, the association only reported the profits realised

at the balance sheet date. All identifiable risks and impending losses occurred with the balance
sheet date were taken into account.

1.2 Fixed Assets

Tangible assets are valued at acquisition or production cost less scheduled straight-line
depreciation.

Scheduled depreciation is based on the following useful lives:

Fixed assets Useful life
in years

‘Technical equipment, plant and
machinery 3



The Globz! Initiative ~ Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

1.3 Current Assets

Accounts receivable and other current assets are valued at their nontinal value. Recognizable
risks are considered by individual allowances,

1.4 Provisions

When measuring provisions, all identifiable risks and impending losses are taken into account
in accordance with legal requirements.

Other provisions take into account risks identifiable at the balance shect date and Liabilitics and

liabilities whose amount has not vet been determined, They are calculated in the amount of the
expected claim.

1.5 Liabilities

Liabilities are valued at the settiement amount taking inte account the principle of prudence.

1.6 Currency conversion

Receivables in foreign currencies are franslated using the exchange rate at the date of the
original transaction or the lower bank buying rate prevailing at the balance sheet datc,

Liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the date of the original transaction or the higher
bank selting rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.

1.7 Change in valuation methods

The valuation methods previousty applicd have been retained in the preparation of these
financial statements.



The Global Initiative - Verein gegen transnationale organisierte Kriminalitit, Wien

2. Notes on the balance sheet and the profit and loss account

2.1 Balance sheet

2.1.1 Assets
Fixed assets

The development of fixed assets and details to the depreciation are shown in the attached
schedule (Appendix 1),

2.1.2 Liabilities
Provisions

The provisions developed in the fiscal year 2021 as follows; whereby these included expenses
regarding the preparation of the statutory financial statements as of Dedember 31, 2021, the
corresponding limited review as well as bonus paymants to employees and holiday accruals for
employees.

Status Status
2021-01-01 Usage Cancellation Allocation 2021-12-31
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
other provisions 57,435.15 56,626.69 808.46 94,884.58 94,884.58
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2.2 Profit and loss account

Revenue

Public subsidies

Other income

2021 2020

EUR EUR
3,656,916.97 3,226,520.80

529.846.22 223,691.51
4,186,763.19  3,450,212.31

The public subsidies also include in 2021 contributions from the United Kingdom in regards of
the following projects (the underlying exchange rate is in generel the one, which was published
by the Oesterreichische Nationalbank (Austrian National Bank); the project "Western Balkans
SOC (CSSF)" is exempted from this, as the underlying contract determines that OANDA

exchange rates should be used instead):

Western Balkans SOC (CSSF) Projekt (Projektnummer
276)

Western Balkans SOC (CSSF) Projekt (Projektnummer

276)

Personnel expenses

Salaries
Social security costs

Depreciation of tangible assets

2021 2021
subsidy in subsidy in
GBP EUR
859,316.35 997,159.22
859,316.35 997,159.22
2020 2020
subsidy in subsidy in
GBP EUR
462,129.23 516,990.22
462,129.23 516,990.22
2021 2020
EUR EUR
869,234.74 592,521.87
194,169.52 138,505.04
1,063,404.26 731,026.91

Scheduled depreciation/amortization in the current short financial year totaled EUR 7,075.56

(prior year: 3,888.82 EUR).
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Other operating expenses

maintenance and operational costs

travel expenses

Rental expenses

allocated staff costs

costs for office supplies

communication expenses

Expenditure on advertising and representation
insurance expenses

Legal and consulting e¢xpenses

education and training expenses

fees and contributions

bank charges

consulting expenses

grants and grants to the sister organization
other operating expenses

2021 2020
EUR EUR
48,072.27 37,870.95
83,652.45 70,374.96
67,237.65 56,909.35

131,372.03 227,098.07
5,410.16 14,433.86
3,255.23 8,318.06

12,774.71 48,415.54
2,740.90 2,421.81
85,735.59 81,856.73
7,562.95 12,953.86
5,242.92 388.41
16,864.81 14,728.82

708,159.46 605,330.51

1,283,741.10  1,034,644.75
17,353.09 32,394.93
2,479,175.32  2,248,140.61
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3. Other notes

The association is represented by Dr. Mark Shaw (Director).

After the balance sheet date no significant events accurred which were not included into the
balance sheet or the profit and loss account.

Employees

In 2021, the association employed 13 employee on average (prior year: 10 employees).

2021 2020
Workers 0 0
Employees 13 10
13 10

Vienna, March 04, 2022

Dr. Mark Shaw
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Statement of fixed assets as at December 31, 2021

Purchase/Prodaction costs acoummuluied depreciations Canrying values
g Addithons Disposals Hepostings iy s [repreciations Wrile-ups Lyisponals St Hlas Sl
202101 -01 20281231 2021-01-01 24211231 2021-01-01 H21-12-31
EUR BUR HUR TUR EUR . DUR EUR EUR BUR BUR___ DUR EUR

A, FIXED ASSETS

I Tangible assets -
L. Tools and equipment 16,582, 85 5,772,658 0,00 [XT] 11.355.50 CALPAL] 1075, 2,00 8.00 13,182.70 10.475.71 317280
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AMER
STEUERBERATER _
UND WIRTSCHAFTSPRUFER

General Conditions of Contract
for the
Public Accounting Professions
(AAB 2018)

Recommended for use by the Board of the Chamber of Tax Advisers and
Auditors, last recommended in its decision of April 18, 2018

Preamble and General ltems

(1) Contract within the meaning of these Conditions of Contract refers to
each contract on services to be rendered by a person entilled lo exercise
profession in the field of public accounting exercising that profession (de
facto activities as well as providing or performing legal transactions or acts,
in each case pursuant to Sections 2 or 3 Austrian Public Accounting
Professions Act (WTBG 2017). The parties to the contract shall hereinafter
be referred to as the "contractor” on the one hand and the “client” on the
other hand),

(2) The General Conditions of Contract for the professions in the field of
public accounting are divided into two sections: The Conditions of Section |
shall apply to conlracts where the agreeing of contracts is part of the
oparations of the client's company (entrepreneur within the meaning of the
Austrian Consumer Protection Act. They shall apply to consumer business
under the Austrian Consumer Protection Act (Federal Act of March 8, 1979
/| Federal Law Gazette Mo. 140 as amended) insofar as Section Il does not
provide otherwise for such business.

(3) In the event that an individual provision is void, the invalid provision
shall be replaced by a valid provision that is as close as possible to the
desired objective.

SECTION |
1. Scope and Execulion of Contract

(1) The scope of the contract is generally determined in a written
agreament drawn up betwean the client and the contractor. In the absence
of such a detailed written agreement, (2)-(4) shall apply in case of doubt:

(2) When contracted to perform tax consultation services, consultation shall
consist of the following activities:

a) preparing annual tax returns for income tax and corporate tax as well as
value-added tax (VAT) on the basis of the financial statements and other
documents and papers required for taxation purposes and to be submitted
by the client or (if so agreed) prepared by the contractor. Unless explicitly
agreed otherwise, documents and papers required for taxation purposes
shall be produced by the client.

b) examining the tax assessment notices for the tax returns mentioned
under a).

c) negotiating with the fiscal authorities in connection with the tax returns
and notices mentioned under a) and b).

d) participating in external tax audits and assessing the results of external
tax audits with regard to the taxes mentioned under a).

e) participating in appeal procedures with regard to the taxes mentioned
under a),

If the contractor receives a flat fee for regular tax consultation, in the
absence of written agreements to the conftrary, the activities mentioned
under d) and &) shall be invoiced separately,

(3) Provided the preparation of one or more annual tax return(s) is part of
the contract accepted, this shall not include the examiration of any
particular accounting conditions nor the examination of whether all relevant
concessions, particularly those with regard to value added tax, have been
utilized, unless the person entitied to exercise the profession can prove that
hefshe has been commissioned accordingly.

(4) In each case, the obligation lo render other services pursuant to
Sections 2 and 3 WTBG 2017 requires for the contractor to be separately
and verifiably commissioned.

(5) The aforementioned paragraphs (2) to (4) shall not apply to services
requiring particular experlise provided by an experl.

(6) The contractor is not obliged to render any services, issue any warnings
or provide any information beyond the scope of the contract.

(7) The contractor shall have the right to engage suitable staff and other
performing agents (subcontractors) for the execution of the contract as well
as to have a person entitled to exarcise the profession substitute for him/her
in execuling the contract. Staff within the meaning of these Conditions of
Contract refers to all persons who suppert the contractor in hisfher
operafing activities on a regular or permanent basis, irrespective of the type
of underlying legal transaction.

(8) In rendering hisfher services, the contractor shall exclusively take into
account Austrian law, foreign law shall only be taken into account if this has
been explicitly agreed upon in writing.

(2) Should the legal situation change subsequent to delivering a final
professional statement passed on by the client orally or in writing, the
contractor shall not be obliged to inform the client of changes or of the
consequences thereof. This shall also apply to the completed parts of a
contract.

{10} The client shall be obliged to make sure that the data made available
by him/her may be handled by the contractor in the course of rendering the
services. In this context, the client shall particularly but not exclusively
comply with the applicable provisions under data protection law and labor
law.

(11} Unless explicitly agreed ctherwise, if the contractor electronically
submits an application to an authority, he/she acts only as a messenger and
this does not constitute a declaration of intent or knowledge attributable to
him/her or a person authorized to submit the application.

(12) The client undertakes not to employ persons that are or were staff of
the cantractor during the confractual relationship, during and within one year
after termination of the contractual relationship, either in his/her company or
in an associated company, failing which hef/she shall be obliged to pay the
contractor the amount of the annual salary of the member of staff taken
over.

2. Client's Obligation to Provide Information and Submit Complete Set of
Documents

(1) The client shall make sure that all documents required for the execution
of the contract be placed without special request at the disposal of the
contractor at the agreed date, and in good time if no such date has been
agreed, and that he/she be informed of all events and circumstances which
may be of significance for the execution of the contract. This shall also apply
te documents, events and circumstances which become known only after
the contractor has commenced his/her work.

(2) The contractor shall be justified in regarding information and documents
presented to him/her by the client, in particular figures, as correct and
complele and lo base the contract on them. The contractor shall not be
obliged to identify any errors unless agreed separately in writing. This shall
particularly apply to the correctness and completeness of bills. However,
hefshe is obliged to inform the client of any errors identified by him/her. In
case of financial criminal proceedings hefshe shall protect the rights of the
client.

(3) The client shall confirm in writing that all documents submitted, all
informalion provided and explanations given in the context of audits, expert
opinions and expert services are complete.

(4) If the client fails to disclose considerable risks in connection with the
preparation of financial statements and other stalemenis, the contractor
shall not be obliged lo render any compensation insofar as these risks
materialize,

(5) Dates and time schedules stated by the contractor for the completion of
lhe contraclor's products or parls thereof are best estimates and, unless
otherwise agreed in writing, shall not be binding. The same applies to any
estimates of fees: they are prepared to best of the contractor's knowledge;
however, they shall always be non-binding.

(6) The client shall always provide the contractor with his/her current contact
details (particularly the delivery address). The contractor may rely on the
validity of the contact details meost recently provided by the client,
particularly have deliveries made to the most recently provided address,
until such time as new contact details are provided.

3. Safeguarding of Independence

(1) The client shall be obliged to take all measures to prevent that the
independence of the staff of the coniractor be jenpardized and shall
himselffherself refrain from jeopardizing their independence in any way. In
particular, this shall apply to offers of employment and to offers to accept

contracts on their own account.
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{2) The cient acknowledges that hisiher parsonal details required In this
respect, as well as the type and scopo of the services, lhcluding the
parformance pariad agreed betwean the cortractor and the dlent for the
services (both audll and non-audit services), shall be handled within a
netwark {f any) to which the contractor belongs, and for this purpose
transfered lo the other members of the naetwork including atread for the
purpose of examination of the existence of grounds of blas ar grounds for
exclusion and conflicts of interest. For this purpose the cllent expressty
releases the contfractor in accordance with the Bata Proteclion Act and In
accardance with Sectior 80 (d) No. 2 WTBG 2047 from his/her cbilgation
lo mainlain secracy. The cffenl can revoke e release from the obligation
1o malnlaln secracy atany me.

4. Reporiing Reguirements

i1} tReporing by the conwactar) In e absence of an agreement ic the
contraty, a written report shall be drawn up [n the case of audits and experi
opintons.

(2] (Communication o the cllent) All coniractrelated informatton and
optnfons, cluding repots, (all declarstions of knowledsge) of the
contractor,  Fisthar  staff,  other performing  agenis  or  substitutes
{“professional staternents™ shall only be binding ptovided they are set
down In writing. Professional statements In elsctronic file formats which are
made, transferred or confirmed by fax or e-mall or using simllar types of
electronic communication (that can be stored and reproduced but is not
oral, 1.6, 8.9. text messages but not lelephona) shall be deemed as set
down in writing; this shall only apply to professlonal statements. The clent
bears the risk that professional statements may be lssued by persoms not
entited to do =o as well as the transfer risk of such professional
slatements.

{3) {Communication to the clienty Tne cliert hecsby consenis to e
cantractor cornmunicalirg with the clent (e.g. by e-mall] in an unencrypled
mannet. The cllent declares that hefshe has been informed of the risks
arising from the use of electronic communication {pariculary access to,
maintaining secrecy of, changing of messages In the course of transfer),
The contractor, hisfher staff, other performing agenls or substifules are not
lable for any losses that ardse as a result of the use of electronic means of
cammunlcation,

{4} (Communicafion to the conbactor) Recalpt and forwarding of
Information to the cortractor and higher staff g not always quaraniesd
when the telephone |s used, in particular in conjunction with automatlc
telephone answerlng syslems, fax, e-mail and other types of elecironic
communicalion, As a rasult, Instaschons and Imporiant information shall
only be deemaed to have been recelved by the contractor provded they are
also recelved physically (not by telephors, orally or electrorically), unless
exglicit confirmation of receipt Is provided tn Individual tnstances. Automatic
canfirmation that items have been rznsmitled and read shall not constliufe
such explicit confirmalions of recelpt. Thiz shall apply in padicular to the
lransmission of decisions and other infarmation relating to deadlines. As a
result, crilical and [mporant notifications must bo sent 1o the contractor by
mail or coutter. Detivery of documants o staff outside the firm's offices shall
not count as defivery,

(5) {Genaral} In writtng shall mean, Insofar as not otherwise lald down in
ltema 4. {2}, written forn within the meaning of Section 886 Austian Cvil
Code {ABGB) {zonfirmed by signature). An advanced electronic signature
{Art, 26 elDAS Reguiation (EU No. 910/2014) uifills the requirement of
written form withn the meaning of Section 886 ABGB {confirmed by
signature) insofar as this is at the discretion of the parfies {o the contract.

{6} (Pramational Infarmalion) The contracker will send recurent general lax
law and ganaral commercial taw information to the dllent electronicaliy fe.g.
by e-mall}. The cllent acknowledges that hefshe has the right fo object to
recalving direct advertising at any time.

5. Protection of Intellectuat Property o the Contractor

{1} The cllenl shall be obliged to ensure that repors, expert opinlons,
argarkzational plavs, drafis, drawings, caleulations and the Uke. issued by
the cantracior, be used only for the curpose specifed In the contract (e.g.
pursuant to Section 44 (3} Austian ircome Tax Act 1988). Furthermore,
professional statamnentzs made orally or In wiiting by the confractor may be
pagsed on to a lhird pary for use only with the wiitten corsent of the
contractor.

{2} The use of professlonal skatements made orally or In willing by the
contrector for prometionat purposes shall not be pemitted; a viotation of
this provision shall glve the contractar the right to teminate witnout notice
to the cilant abf contracts pot yet executed.

{3) The contraclor shall retain the copyright on his/her work, Permission to

use the work shall be subject to the wallten consent by the contractor.

&. Comectlan of Errars

(1) The contractor shall have the right and shasll be obliged to corract all
erors and Inaccuracies |n hsther professlonal statenent made orally or in
writing which subsequently corme to light and shall be obliged to inform the
cliant thereo without delay. Hefzhe shall alsa bave the right o inform a third
party acqualited with the ariginal professiona) statement of he change.

2} The cllent has the rght to have all errors corrected free of charge If the
cont-actor can be Meld responsitle for them; this right will expire six months
afier completion of the services rendered by the confracior andior ~ in
cazses where & written professiona! statement has not been dellvered — six
manths after the contractor has completed the work that glves cause lo
cornplaint.

{3} If the conlractor falls to comect errors which have came to light, the cltent
ghafl have the right lo demand a reductior in proe, The exterd to which
additliana! cfalms for damagas can be asserted is stipttated under item 7.

7. Liabllity

{1) Al Habflity provisions shall apply to all disputes In connaction with the
contractual relalionship, itespectlve of the lagal grounds, The conlractor bs
hable for losses arlstng in connection with the contractual relationship
{including its termination} only In case of wiliful intent and gross pegligence,
The applicability of Section 1298 2. Sentence ABGB is excluded,

[2j In cases of gross negligance, the rmaximum liabilty for damages due
from the contractor s tenfold the mvnimum insurance sum of the
professional [fiability insurance according to Section 11 WTBG 2017 as
ameonded.

(3} The limHation of liability pursuant to fem 7. {2} refers to the individusl
case of damages. The Individual case of damages includes all
cansequences of 8 broach of duly regardless of whather damages amse [n
one oF more corseculive years. In thls context, multiple acts or failures to
act fhat are based on the same or similar saurce of etror as one consistent
breach of duly if the matlters concemed are legally and economically
connected. Single damages remaln individual cases of damage even if they
are based on several breaches of duty. Furthermore, the contractonrs |abillty
for loss of profit as well as collateral, consequential, Incidental or similar
losses is exduded in case of williful damage.

{43y Agy action for damages may only be brought within slx months after
those ertitted to assert a claim have gained knowledge of the damage, but
no later than three years after the cccumrence of the indmany) toss following
the Inaldent upon which the clam is based, unless ofher stalutory limitation
pariods are lafd down n olher tegal prov-sions.

(51 Sheuld Section 275 Austrian Caommerclal Code {LUGE) be applicable
{due fo a ciminal offense), the [labllity provislons contalned therein shall
apply even in cases where several persons have participated In the
exaculion of the confract or whare several actvities requiting compensatior
have taken place and irrespective of whether other participants have acted
with fnbeat,

{6} In cases where a fomna! auditor's report s Issued, the appllcable
limitation period shell commence no later than at the time the sald auditor's
report was lesuod.

{7} If activities ara carried out by enlisting the services of 1 third party. e.g. a
data-processing company, any warranty claims and claims for damages
which atiss against the (hied paty accordlng to law and conbact shall be
deemed as having been passed an lo e client once the clienl has been
tnfoimed of them, ltem 4. {3) notwithstanding, in such a case the cortrastor
shall only be llable for fault in choosing the third party.

{8) The conlractar’s llablity to third parties s excluded In any case. If third
parties corne Into contact with the contractor's wartk In any manner due to
the client, the client shall exgressly clarify this fact to them. Ingofar az such
excluslon of iabllity |5 nol legally parralssible or a liability to third parties has
been assumed by the conlractar In exceptional cases, these limitetions of
liabllity shall In any case also apply to thind parties on a subsidlary bass. In
any casa, a fhird pardy cannot raise any claims that go beyond any claim
ralsed by the cllent. The maxtmum sum of llzbllly shall be valld only once
for all parties Injured, induding the compensation claims of the cllenl, aven
If several parsons {the clent and a third party or several third parties) have
suslained losses: the elaims of the parties infured shall b sallsfiad in the
order in which the daims have beer ralsed. The cllenl will indemnify and
hele hammless the contracter and hisfher staff agalnst any clalms by thirg
parties in connectior. with professional statements made orally of In wriling

by the contractor and passed on (o these ird parttes,

Page 2



{9) ltem 7. shall also apply to any of the cllant's liablity clalms to third
parties {performing agents and vicarious agents of the contractor) and to
substitutes of the contractar relating to the contractusl retationship.

&, Secrecy, Data Proteclion

{1} According to Section 80 WTBG 2017 the vontractor shall be obliged to
maintaln secrecy in all matters that become known to himdher in connection
with kls/her work for the cllent, unless the client rel him/her from this
duty or hetshe ks bound by law to deflver a stalement.

{2} Insafar as it is necessary {0 pursue the contractor's claims {particularly
clalmg for fees) ar fo dispule clalms agalnst the confraclor (particulary
claims for damages ralsed by the cilent or third paries against (e
contractor), the contractor shall be released f-om his/her professional
obligation to malntain secrecy.

{3) The contraclor ehall be permitted to hand un reports, axpert opiafons
and other writlen stalements paitalning to the resuits of hisher sarvices to
third parties only with tha permission of the cllent, untess he/she Is required
to do so by law,

{#) The cortractor s a data protection controller within the meaning of the
General Data Protection Regulation ("GOPR") with regard to all persanal
data processed under the contract. The contractor is thus authorized fo
process personal data entrusted to him/her within the Himits of the canlract.
Tie matedal made avallable o the contractar (paper and dala earders}
shall generally he handed to the dient or to third paties appointed by the
dient after the respeciive rendering of services has been complteted, or be
kept and destroyed by the confractor If so agreed. The confractor is
authorized o keap coples fhereof Inscfer as helshe needs them flo
appropdately document hisfher services or ‘nsofar as |tis required by law of
ocustomary in the profession,

{5 If the contractor suppots the cllent In fulfllling his/er duties to the data
subjects arising from the cllert's functior as data protection controlles, the
contracter shall be entiled to charge the clent for the actual efforts
undartaken. The same shall apply to efforts undertaken for information whh
regard to the confractual relationship which |5 provided to third partfes after
having been reteased from the obfigation to malntain sacrecy to thivd
parties by the client,

S, Withdrawal and Cancallation {, Terminaion)

{1) The rotice of tesminafion of a cantract shall be issued in witing (see
aten ltem 4. {4} and {5)). Tha expiry of an exlsting power of atforney shall
rot rasultin a termination of the contract,

{21 Unless ofherwise agreed in witting or stipulated by force of taw, slther
contractual partner shail have the right {0 terminale the contract at any time
with Immediale effect. The fee shall be caleulaled aseording fo ltam 11.

31 However, a continuing agreemertt (fixed-termn or open-ended contract
o — avan if ot exclusively — the randering of repeated individual sarvices,
also with a flat fee) may, without good reascn, orly be terminated at the
end of the calendar month by observing a pertod of notice of three months,
urtess otherwise agreed in wiiling.

{4} Afer nofica of termination of a continuing agreement and unless
otherwise stipulated In the following, anly those dividual lasks shall still ba
completed by the contizctor {list of assignments to be completed) thal can
{genearzliy} be completed fully within the period of notlce insofar as the
dient Is rotified In wiiting within one month after commencement of the
terminatlon notice period within the reaning of ltem 4, (2}, The llst of
assignments to be compleled shall be compleled within the termination
period if all documents requlred ane provided without delay and if no good
reason exists that Impedes completion,

{53 Should it happen that In case of & conlinuing agreement more than twe
simitar agsignments which are usvally completed only once a wear {s.9.
francla) stalements, annual tax relums, ele.) are fo be completed. any
such assignmenis exceeding ihis number shall be -egaided as
assignments to be completed only with the client's expliclt consent. B
applicakda, the cllent ghall be informed of this explicily in the statement

pursuant to ftem 9. (4},

10. Termination in Case of Default in Acceptance and Falure to
Cooparale on the Part of the Client and Legai Impediments to Execution

{1} ¥ the client defaulls on accaptance of the services rendered by the
contracior or fails o canmy out a task incumbent on himdher aither according
to em 2. of Imposed on himfer in ancther way, the contracter shall hava
the right to terminale the contract without prior notice. The same shall appiy
i the cllent requests a way to executs (3%so partlally) the contract that the
contractor reasonably belleves is not In compliance wth the legal situation
or professlaral princples. Hisfher fees shall be calouwlaled according to tem
11. Defaull in acceplance or faflure to cooperate on the part of the client
shall also justify a claim for compensation made by the contractar for the
exira time and jabor hereby expended as well as for the damage caused, if
the cantractar does not Invoke hisfher right o terminate the contrack

{2} For contracts concerning beokkeeping, payrolt accounting and
administration and assessment of payrall-related taxes and contibutions, a
termination without prior notice by the confractor ks permissible under em
96, {13 If the client verifiably falls to cooperate twice as laid down in llem 2.
i)

11. Entittament fo Fee

(1) ¥ the contract falls to be exscuted (e.g. due to withdrawal or
cancellation), the conkactor shall be eniiled to the negotlated
compensalion (fee), provided he/she was prepared to rendar the services
and was prevented from so deing by elrcumstances caused by the client,
wherzby a merely contributory negligence by the contractor In this respect
shall be excluded; in this case tha contractor need not take tnto acocount the
amoud nefshe obtained or falled to obtatn through alternative uze of hisfher
own professional gervices or thosa of his/her siaff,

{2} i a confinuing agreement Is terminated, the regotiated compensation for
the sl of assignments o be complated shall be due upon compledion or ir
case completion fails due lo reasons attributable to the cliont (reforance i
made to ltem 11. {1). Any flat fees negotiated shall be calsulated according
to the sendoes rendeted up to this palnt,

{3) i the dilent falls {0 cooperate and the assignment canno!l be carried out
as a resull, the cartractor shall also hava the right to set a reasorable grace
petiod on the understanding hat, if this grace pariod explres without results,
fhe cantract shall be deemed Ireffective and he consequences ndicated in
fearn 1. (1) shall apply.

{4} f the termination notice paniod under ltem 9, {3) is nol abserved by the
cliert as well as if the contract is tarminated by the contraclor in accordarce
with ltem 30. {2), the contracter shall retain hisfer right fo receive the full
fea for three months,

12. Fee

{13 Unless the pamles explicitly agreed that the services would be rendered
free of charge, an approprigle remuneration In accordance with Sections
1004 and 1152 ABGB is due In any case. Amount and type of the
onfittermant to the fes are laki down in tha agreement nagotiatad batwean
fhe canfractor and hisfher dlent. Unless a different agreement has verifiably
been reached, paymenis mage by the client shall in all cases be cradited
against the oldast dabt,

{2} The smallest service unlt which may be charged s a quarter of an hour,
(3) Travel ime fo the axtent required Is also charged.

{4) Study of documents which, In terms of thelr nalure and extent, may
nrove necessary for preparation of the contractor in histher own office may
also be chargad as a speclal ltem.

{5} Should a remuneration already agreed upon prove inadequate as a
result of the subsequent oocumence of speclal ciroumstances of due to
speclal requiremants of the clent, the contractor shall nofify the client
thereof and addiional negofiations for tha agreament of a more sultable
retnuneration shall take place (alscin case of Inadequate fat fees).

(6) The contractor inciudes charges for supplementary costs and VAT In
addltion lo the above, in¢luding but not limited to the following {7) {o {9):

{7} Chargeable stpplementary costs also include dotumented or fiatrate
cash expenzes, travaling axpenses (firgt clags far train journeys), per dlams,
mileage allowance, copying costs and similar supplermentary costs,

{8 Should particttar third party lablitles be involved, the comesponding
insurance premiums (inciuding insurance tax) also count as supplementary

coSls.
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(2} Personnel and maledal expenses for the preparation of reports, expert
opinicns and similar documents are alse viewed a5 supptementary costs.

{10) For the executlon of a contract whereln joint complation involves
saveral contractors, each of them will charga his/ser own compensation.

{11} In the absence of any other agreements, compensallon and advance
payments are due immediately after they rave been requested in wiiting.
Where payments of compensation are made later than 14 days after the
due date, defaull nlerest may e charged, Where mubual business
Iransacllons are concerned, a default interest rate at the amount stipulated
In Sectlon 456 Tnand 2wSentence UGE shall apply.

{12) Statutory limitation is In accordance with Section 1488 of ABGE, with
the period beginning at the time the service has been completed or upon
the issulng of the bill within an appropriate Hme it at 2 later point,

{13} An objection may be raised in witing agalnst bills presented by the
contractor within 4 weeks after the defe of the bil. Otherwize the bl is
constdered as acceptad, Flling of a blll in the accounting system of the
reciplent is #fs0 considered as acceplance.

{14) Application of Section 934 ABGB within the meaning of Section 351
UGB, i.e. rescissfon for laeso enormis flesion beyond motety} among
entreprensurs, is heveby rencunced.

(15} i & fiat fee has been negoliated for conbracls conceming
bookkesping, payroll accourting and adminisiration and assessment of
payrolirelated taxes and contributions, In the absence of writien
agreements to the contrary, reprasentation In matters concerning &l hrwes
of tax audifs and audits of payroll-related taxes and social security
contrbutions including settlements cancerning tax assessments and the
basis for contbut ons, preparetion of repons, aopeals and the ke shall be
involced separately. Unless atharwise agreed ko in wiiting, the faa shall ba
considered agread upon for one year al a time.

(16} Parteular Indivduval services @ gonnection with the services
mentloned In Merm 12, {15), in particutas ascerlalting whether the
raquirements for slatulory sockal security contrlbutons are met, shall be
daalt with anly an the basls of a specific confract,

{17} Tha corticacter shall have the right to ask for advance payments and
can make delivery of (he resulls of hisfhar {continuad} work dependant on
satsfackory  fuffillment of hsfher demsnds. As regards conlnuing
agreements, the rendering of further services may te denled untl] payment
of previous services (as well as any advanoe paymants under Santence 1)
has boen offected. Thiz ghall analogously apply If services are rendered In
Insiaiiments and fee instalments are outstanding.

{18} With the exceplion of obwinus essential errors, a complaint conceming
the work of tha confractor shall not justify evan only the panlal ratenlion of
fees, other compensation, relmbursements and advance paymentks
{remunatationr) owed to hmyher [ accordance with item 12.

{19} Offseffing the remunerstion claims made by the contractor in
accordance with ftem 12. shall only be permified i the demands are
unecontested and fegally valid,

13. Other Provisions

{1} With regard to item 12. {17}, reference shall be made 10 the legal right
of relertion {Section 471 ABGB, Seclion 358 UGB}, il the right of retention
l2 wrangfully exarcised, the contractor shall ganerally be llable pursuant to
llem 7. or oftierwise only e to the outstanding amourt of hisfher fea.

{23 The clignt shall rot be entltled to recelve any working papiers and
simtlar documents prepared by the contractor in the course of fulfilling the
contract. In the case of contract fulfilment using electronle accounting
systens [he contractor shall be entitisd o delete the data after handing
over all data based thereon — which were prepared by the confractor h
ralation to the confract and which the cllant is chilged to keep — to the
cllent andfor the susceeding publle accountant in a structured, commoen
and machine-readable formet. The contractor shali be enfiied to an
zppropriate fee (ttem 12, shall apply by analogy) for nanding over such
dala in a struclured, common and machine-readable format. If handing
over such data In a sbuctured, commen and machine-readabla fommat Is
impassible or unfeasibls for speclal reasons, they may be handed aver in
thee form of a full printout instead. In such a cage, the contractor shall not

be entlied lo receive & fae,

{3) At the request and expense of the client, the contractor shall hand over
&l documents received from the client within the scope of hisfher actvilies,
Huwever, this shall not apply fo correspondance bebwean the contracior and
hlsfher cdient and to origingl documents i hisfer possession and 1o
documents which ara required to be kept In accordance with the legal
anti-money laundering provisions applicable fo the contractor. The contractor
may maka copies o duplicates of the documents to be relumed to the ¢l ant.
Once such documents have been Iransferréd to the cliert, the contractor
shall ba enfited to an appropriate fee (ftemn 12. shall apply by analogy).

(4} The client shall felch the documents handed aver to the contractor within
thrae months after it work has besh completad, if tha cllent falls o do so,
the coniractor shall have the right to return them to the cllent at the cost of
the dlent or o charge an appropriate fee (tem 12 shall apply by analogy) if
the contractor can prove that he/she has asked the client twice to pick up the
documerits tanded aver. The docuinents may slso further be xept by thind
parties af the expense of the cllent. Furthermore, the contractor Is not liable
for any consequences arlsing from damage. loss or destiuction of the
decuments,

(51 The contractor shall have the right fo compensation of any "sss that are
due by use of any avallable deposited funds, clearing batances, trust funds
or other Hquid funds at blsther disposal, oven if these funds are explichtiy
Intencted for salekeeplng, if the cllent had to have antolpated the
counferclaim of the contractor.

{8) To secure an existing or future fee payable, the conlractor shall have tha
fignt {o transfer 2 balance held by the client with the tax office of another
balance hetd by the dlent in conneclion with charges and conkributions, to a
trust accounl, in this case the client shall be infarmad of Ehe iransfar,
Subseguently, the amount secured may be collected elther after agreement
has been reached with the cllent or after enforceablllty of the fee by
execution has been declared.

14. Applleable Law, Place of Performanca, Jurisdiction

{1) The contract, its executlon and the claims resulling from It shall be
axclusively govamned by Austrian law, exclirding natlenal refemal rules.

[2) The place of performance shall be the place of business of the
contrackcr,

13) |n ebsence of & writlen agreement stipulating otherwlse, the place of
lurisdiction ks the competent caurt of the placa of performance.
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SECTIONII
15. Supplemartary Provisions for Conzumer Transactions

{1} Confracts between public accountants and consumers shall fall under
the obligatory provisions of the Awustrian Consumer PFrotection Act
{KSchG),

{2) The contractor shall only be llable fo- the willlu and grossiy negligent
violafion of the obligations agsumed,

{3} Conbeary to lhe lmilation laid down in Rem 7. (2, the duty to
compensate on the part of the contractor shall not be limlted in cage of
gross negligence.

{4) tem 6. {2} (period For right to correction of ermrors) and Iam 7. (4}
{asserting clalms for damages within a certaln period) shall net apply.

{5} Right of Wihdrewsl pursuant to Section 3 KSehi3: If the congumer has
not made hisfmer contract statemment in the office usually used by the
contraglor, hefshe may withdraw from the contract application or the
contrac! proper. This withdrawal may be declared until the contract has
been conciuded or within one week after itz conclusion; lhe pericd
commences as soon as & documen! has been handed over [o the
consumer which contalns at least the name and Hhe address of fhe
cantraclar as well as insleetions on the right [o withdraw from the contract,
but no earller than the concluslon of the contract. The consumer shall not
tave the right to withdraw from the contract

1. W the consumer himseifhersedf estabiished the business
ralatlonship concerning the condusion of this contract with the conlractor
or tigther representative,

2. f the conclusion of the contract has not been praceded by any talks
betwean the parties Involved or their representatives, or

3. in case of cont-acts where the mutual services have to be renderad
immadiately, If the conlracts are usually concluded odside the offices of
the contractors, and the fee agreed upon does not exceod €18,

In order to becorme legally effective, the withdrawal shall be declared in
wriling. it Is sufficlent if the consumer returns a document that containg
hissher cantract dectarafion ar fhat of the contractor ko the contractor with a
note which Indlcates that the cunsumer rejecls the concluslon or the
mantengnce of the contract. it s suffictent If this declaration is dispatehadg
within one week.

it the consumer withdraws from the contract according to Section 3
KSchG,

1. the contractor shall retum all benefits recaived, including all
slatutory interast, catoulated from the day of recelpt, and compensate the
consumes for all necessary and useful expenses Incured In this matter,

2. the consumer shall pay for the value of the services randerad by
the confractor as far as they are of & clear and predominant benefit o
him/her,

Acconding 1o Secllan 4 {3) KSc¢hG, claims for damages shall remaln
unaffacted.

{68} Cost Eslimates acconding to Seclion 5 Ausirian KSchG!

The consumer shall pay for the prepatation of a cost estimate by the
cortractor |n accordance with Seclion -1170a ABGB qniy If the cansumer
has been rotited of this pavment odligation befotehand.

¥ the contract is based on a oost estimate prepared by the contractor, Hs
corectness shall be deemed warranted as lorg as he opposite has nat
been expliciiy declared,

{7} Corection of Errors: Supplament to llem 6.

ff the contractor 13 obliged under Sectlon 932 ABGB io Improve or
complement hlsfher services, hefshe shall execute fhls duty at the place
whera the malter was transferred. it is in the interest of the consumer to
have the work and the documents transferred by fthe conlractar, the
corsurmer may carry out this transfer at hisfher own risk ard expense.

{8} Jurlsdiction: Shall apply instead of ltam 14_ {3}

it the domicla or the usua! residence of Lhe consumer is within the country
or if hefshe is employed within he country, In case of an action against
him/her acconding to Sections 88, B3, 93 {2} and 104 {1} Ausiian Court
Jurisdiction Act (M), the only campetent courts shall be the courls of the
districts where the consumer has hisfhet comiclls, usual residence o
place of employmant.

{8} Ceniracts an Recurring Services:

{a) Contracts which oblige the contractor lo render senvices and the
consumer to offect repeated payments and which have been concluded for
an Indefinlte pe-tod or a perlod exceeding ane year -nay be terminated by the
consumer at e end of the first year, and after the first year at the and of
every gy months, by adhering to s two-month pericd of notlce,

(b} H the total work is regarded as a service Lhaf cannot ba divided on
acoount of Its character, the extent and price of which is dotormined already
at the eonclusion of the contract, the first dale of termination may be
postponed untll the secord year has expired. In case of such contracis the
period of notice may be extended fo & maximum of six months.

{c) If the execution of a ceratn contract Indlcated in lit. a) requiras
considerable expenses on the part of the conlracior and if hefshe informad
the consumer aboul fhis no later than at the time the confract was
concluged, reasonable dafes of termination and pericds of notice which
deviate from lit. a} and b} and which fit the respective circumstances may ba
agreed.

{d} if ther consumer terminales tha cortracl withcut complying with the
period of nolice, the terminallon shall become effectiive at e next

farmination date which follows the axpiy of the period of nolice

@ Kammer dor Sfeuerberater und Wirlschaftspnifer, 1100 Wian
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